
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Kent County Council 
 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
 

Tuesday, 27th April, 2010, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Medway Room, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone 01622 694342 

   
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 
 

1. Membership  

 Conservative: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), Mr 
T Gates, Mr R A Pascoe. 
 
Liberal Democrat: Mr S J G Koowaree.  
 

2. Declarations of Interest by Members for items on the agenda  

3. Application to register land at Beecholme Drive, Bybrook as a new Village Green 
(Pages 1 - 54) 

4. Application to register land known as King George Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a 
new Village Green (Pages 55 - 86) 

5. Other items which the Chairman decides are Urgent  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services and Local Leadership 
(01622) 694002 
 
Monday, 19 April 2010 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Application to register land as a new Village Green at
Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 27th April 2010. 

Recommendation: I recommend, for the reasons stated in the Inspector’s report 
dated 25th February 2010, that the applicant be informed that the application to 
register the land at Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford has been accepted, and that 
the land subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

Local Member:  Mrs. Elizabeth Tweed    Unrestricted item 

Introduction and background 

1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Beecholme 
Drive, Ashford as a new Village Green from local resident Mrs. P. Boorman (“the 
applicant”). The application, dated 15th February 2008, was allocated the 
application number VGA599. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this 
report.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 
and regulation 3 of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) 
(Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007. These regulations have, 
since 1st October 2008, been superseded by the Commons Registration 
(England) Regulations 2008 which apply only in relation to seven ‘pilot 
implementation areas’ in England (of which Kent is one). The legal tests and 
process for determining applications remain substantially the same. 

3. Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a 
Commons Registration Authority to register land as a Village Green where it can 
be shown that: 

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests: 
• Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of 
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the 
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 
15(3) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended before 6th April 2007 and the 
application has been made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ 
ended (section 15(4) of the Act). 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



5. As a standard procedure set out in the regulations, the County Council must notify 
the owners of the land, every local authority and any other known interested 
persons. It must also publicise the application in a newspaper circulating in the 
local area and place a copy of the notice on the County Council’s website. In 
addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the County 
Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people with the 
opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a period of at 
least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made. 

The application site 

6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) is situated in the 
Bybrook area of the Town of Ashford.  It is a roughly L shaped site that is 
bounded along its longest side to the north west by Beecholme Drive, to the north 
east by Grasmere Road and on the remaining sides by the rear of properties in 
Bybrook Road and Beecholme Drive, as shown on the plan at Appendix A

Previous resolution of the Regulation Committee Member Panel 

7. In response to the application, an objection was received from the landowner, 
Ashford Borough Council (“the objector”) primarily on the grounds that the 
application site was considered by the Borough Council to be open space falling 
within the definition contained in Section 20 of the Open Spaces Act 1906; i.e. 
“land, whether inclosed or not, on which there are no buildings…and the whole or 
remainder of which is laid out as a garden or is used for the purposes of 
recreation…”. It was therefore the Borough Council’s contention that the 
application site is held under a statutory trust for public recreation thus rendering 
use of the land by the local residents ‘by right’ (because, in the Borough Council’s 
view, they have the right to use it by virtue of it being held as open space) and not 
‘as of right’.

8. The matter was considered at a Regulation Committee Member Panel meeting on 
Friday 7th August 2009, where Members accepted the recommendation that the 
matter be referred to a non-statutory Public Inquiry for further consideration.

9. As a result of this decision, Officers instructed Counsel experienced in this area of 
law to act as an independent Inspector. A non-statutory Public Inquiry took place 
at Kennington United Reformed and Methodist Church, Ulley Road, Kennington 
on Monday 22nd February 2010, during which time the Inspector heard evidence 
from interested parties. 

10. The Inspector subsequently produced a detailed written report of her findings 
dated 25th February 2010 which is attached at Appendix B.

Legal tests and Inspector’s findings

11. In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County 
Council must consider the following criteria:

a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 

pastimes? 

Page 2



c) Whether use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a 
particular locality, neighbourhood or a neighbourhood within a locality? 

d) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 
e) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of 

application?

I shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually in 
accordance with the Inspector’s findings: 

(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?

12. The definition of the phrase ‘as of right’ has been considered in recent High Court 
case law. Following the judgement in the Sunningwell1 case, it is now considered 
that if a person uses the land for a required period of time without force, secrecy 
or permission (nec vi, nec clam, nec precario), and the landowner does not stop 
him or advertise the fact that he has no right to be there, then rights are acquired 
and further use becomes ‘as of right’. 

13. Whilst there was no evidence to suggest that use had been with force or in 
secrecy, there was some debate at the Inquiry as to whether the use had been 
without permission.

14. An issue arose as to whether the use of the land by tenants of the neighbouring 
Council-owned housing could be regarded as being by virtue of an implied 
permission on the basis that part of the rent paid by housing tenants is used to 
fund the maintenance of the application site. However, the Borough Council 
confirmed at the Inquiry that the Council tenants living in the vicinity of the 
application site do not have a specific right to use the land as amenity land. The 
Inspector also found that there was no evidence (for example, in the form of 
minutes or resolutions of the Council) that the Council had specifically made the 
application site available for recreational use, nor was there any evidence that the 
Council took any steps to restrict the use of the land to those who were Council 
tenants or to exclude other, non-Council tenants, living nearby.

15. The Borough Council’s initial objection to the application was made on the basis 
that it should be inferred that the land is held as public open space under the 
Open Spaces Act 1906. In the absence of any documentary evidence to 
demonstrate that the land had been formally appropriated under the 1906 Act, the 
Inspector concluded that the land was held as housing land (see paragraphs 12.6 
and 12.7 of her report). Therefore there was no public statutory trust which would 
prevent the use of the land from being ‘as of right’.

16. The Inspector therefore concluded (at paragraph 12.14 of her report) that use of 
the site had been ‘as of right’ throughout the relevant period.

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes?

17. Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking, 
children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. Legal principle does not require that

1
 R v. Oxfordshire County Council, ex p. Sunningwell Parish Council (2001) 

Page 3



recreational activities of this nature be limited to certain ancient pastimes (such as 
maypole dancing); indeed, ‘dog walking and playing with children are, in modern 
life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the main function of a village 
green’2.

18. The Inspector concludes that there was evidence of use of the application site 
(detailed at paragraphs 11.1 to 11.7 in her report) over the whole of the relevant 
period for a range of activities including football, dog walking, playing with children 
and other games. 

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of local inhabitants of a 
particular locality, neighbourhood or a neighbourhood within a locality?

19. The definition of locality for the purposes of a village green application has been 
the subject of much debate in the courts and there is still no definite rule to be 
applied. In the Cheltenham Builders3 case, it was considered that ‘…at the very 
least, Parliament required the users of the land to be the inhabitants of 
somewhere that could sensibly be described as a locality… there has to be, in my 
judgement, a sufficiently cohesive entity which is capable of definition’. The judge 
later went on to suggest that this might mean that locality should normally 
constitute ‘some legally recognised administrative division of the county’.

20. At the Inquiry, the applicant stated that the locality upon which she was relying 
was the two electoral wards of Bockhanger and Bybrook. The Borough Council 
did not seek to challenge or dispute that these electoral wards could constitute a 
locality. The Inspector therefore concludes (at paragraph 10.3 of her report) that 
the relevant locality is the electoral wards of Bockhanger and Bybrook. 

21. Where the locality is large, it will also be necessary to identify a ‘neighbourhood’ 
within the locality. On the subject of neighbourhood, the Courts have held that ‘it 
is common ground that a neighbourhood need not be a recognised administrative 
unit. A housing estate might well be described in ordinary language as a 
neighbourhood… The Registration Authority has to be satisfied that the area 
alleged to be a neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness; otherwise 
the word “neighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning’4.

22. The applicant produced a plan showing the neighbourhood upon which she was 
relying at the Inquiry. This is attached at Appendix C. The Borough Council did 
not challenge the claimed neighbourhood at the Inquiry and as such the Inspector 
concluded (at paragraph 10.9 of her report) that the neighbourhood as shown on 
the plan at Appendix C should be regarded as the qualifying neighbourhood. 

23. Finally, use must have been by a significant number of local inhabitants. The word 
“significant” in this context does not mean considerable or substantial: ‘a
neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a significant number of 
the inhabitants of such a neighbourhood might not be so great as to properly be 
described as a considerable or a substantial number… what matters is that the 
number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that 

2
R v Suffolk County Council ex parte Steed (1995) 70 P&CR 487 at page 503 

3
 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 90

4
R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 92 

Page 4



the land is in general use by the community for informal recreation rather than 
occasional use by individuals as trespassers’5. Thus, what is a ‘significant 
number’ will depend upon the local environment and will vary in each case 
depending upon the location of the application site. 

24. Here the Inspector concluded (at paragraph 11.8 of her report) that the whole of 
the application site has been used by a significant number of local inhabitants, 
sufficient to indicate to a reasonable landowner that the whole of the site was in 
use by local inhabitants generally for informal recreation.  

(d) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 

25. In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has 
been used for a full period of twenty years up until the date of application. In this 
case, the application was submitted in 2008 and therefore the relevant twenty-
year period (“the material period”) is 1988 to 2008. 

26. The Inspector accepted the applicant’s evidence that the land had been used for 
a period of at least 20 years. 

(e) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of 
application?

27. Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 requires that use of the application site 
continues up until the date of application. 

28. The Inspector accepted that the use of the application land had continued until 
the date of the application. 

Comments on the Inspector’s report from the applicant and objector 

29.On receipt, the Inspector’s report was forwarded to the applicant and the main 
objector for their information and further comment. 

30. The applicant had no further comments to make.

31. However, the Borough Council has taken the opportunity to make further 
submissions. The majority of the submission repeats issues raised during the 
Inquiry and already taken account of by the Inspector in her report. The Borough 
Council also raises the issue of another decision made by the Inspector following 
a similar Inquiry in another Local Authority area. Having carefully considered 
these submissions, it is not considered that they have any substantive impact 
upon the Inspector’s recommendation. 

Conclusions 

32. Having heard the evidence presented by both parties at the non-statutory Public 
Inquiry and having considered the Inspector’s thorough and detailed analysis of 
the evidence (contained within her report), I conclude that the requirements of the 
Commons Act 2006 have been met in this case and that the County Council  

5
R (Alfred McAlipne Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71 

Page 5



should therefore register the land subject to the application as a new Village 
Green.

Recommendation

33. I recommend, for the reasons stated in the Inspector’s report dated 25th February 
2010, that the applicant be informed that the application to register the land at 
Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford has been accepted, and that the land subject 
to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Mr. Chris Wade – Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: chris.wade@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste 
Division, Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, 
Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of the Inspector’s report
APPENDIX C – Copy of applicant’s plan showing the neighbourhood 

Page 6



Rivendell

Posts

Twin Oaks

14

33

C
LO

S
E

32

21 1
6
8

42

28 83

35

C
O

P
P

E
R

F
IE

L
D

13

7

10 20

LD
A
SH

C
LO

SE

24

15

10
5

6

1
9

39

3

186

1

1

16
0

El Sub Sta

to

206
to

184

164

Play

Area

228

HILL

208

230

250

B
Y

to

to

577

10

DING

Shelte

49.5m

1
4

7

1
4

9

Bockhanger Hall

Community Centre

2

1
6

1

13

1
5

1
8

8

99

8
1

to

14
8

142

9
1

1
3

6

8
9

9
7

162

140

48.9m

1
3

5

1
1
1

B
Y

B
R

O
O

K
R

O
A

D
1
0
5

1
3

7

to

Posts

9
6

120

FW

C
F

CW

C
P

C
R

C
H

F
W

C
F

C
P

Commu

Bockh

B
EEC

H
O

LM
E

D
R
IV

E

CR

C
F

W
ard

Bdy

601300.000000

601300.000000

601400.000000

601400.000000

1
4

4
4

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

1
4

4
4

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

1
4

4
5

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

1
4

4
5

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

1
4

4
6

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

1
4

4
6

0
0

.0
0
0
0

0
0

®
Scale 1:1250

Land subject to Village Green
application at Beecholme Drive,

Bybrook, near Ashford

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing application site

Page 7



APPENDIX B: 

Copy of Inspector’s report 

In the Matter of

an Application to Register land 

at Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent

as a Town or Village Green

__________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE INSPECTOR

Miss LANA WOOD 

25 February 2010

__________________________________________________________________

Kent County Council 

County Hall 

Maidstone

Kent

ME14 1XX 

Ref: Chris Wade/ Melanie McNeir 

Page 8



In the Matter of

an Application to Register land 

at Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent

as a Town or Village Green

REPORT

of Miss LANA WOOD

25 February 2010

1. The Application

1.1. On 14
th

 March 2008 Kent County Council, as Registration Authority, received 

an application dated 15
th

 February 2008 from Mrs Patricia Boorman of 106 

Bybrook Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent TN24 9JF to register land at the 

corner of Beecholme Drive and Grasmere Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent as 

a town or village green pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  The 

application was in Form 44, as required by the Commons (Registration of 

Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007 

and was verified by a statutory declaration of Mrs Boorman, in the prescribed 

form. 

1.2. The particular subsection and qualifying criterion relied upon were those in 

section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. Mrs Boorman did not rely on section 15(6). The 

locality or neighbourhood in respect of which the application was made was 

described as Bybrook Ward and Bockhanger. The justification for the 

application was that the land had been used for well over 20 years without 

objection from the owner, Ashford District Council, but was now believed to 

be under threat of being developed. The site is only 0.47 acres. Bybrook and 

Bockhanger is considered to be deprived with regard to open space, having 

less than half the optimum amount of open space.  19 homes could be built, 

taking up all the land, leaving no space for play.  The applicant supported the 

idea of homes being built, but not at the expense of using the last green area 

where the young could have a multi use games area placed.  

1.3. A map was appended to the application on which the application land was 

outlined in green highlighter pen
1
.  A second map showed the location of the 

application land on a page extracted from a road atlas of the area.  A third map 

headed “Area Plan – Bybrook Road” showed the blocks of flats and 

1 A11 

2Page 9



maisonettes on Bybrook Road coloured orange, and the parking areas 

(coloured white) and the grassed areas (coloured green) around them. 

1.4. The application was duly publicised.

The Objection

1.5. A letter of objection dated 16
th

 January 2009 was received from the Head of 

Legal and Democratic Services of Ashford Borough Council (“the Council”), 

on behalf of the Council.  The Council stated that it was the owner of the 

application land.  The grounds of objection were (in summary): 

(1) The application land was acquired for housing purposes and had been used 

as amenity land.  However, in proposing to dispose of part of the land, the 

Council had considered that the land was open space, and accordingly that 

it was necessary to advertise the proposed disposal.  Accordingly, the 

Council asserted, the land was held under a statutory trust for the 

enjoyment of local people, and any use by local people was not “as of 

right” as required by section 15 of the Commons Act 2006, but was 

permissive. 

(2) The Council enclosed a series of photographs taken between 2005 and 

2008, which it stated did not reveal any use of the land, although the 

Council accepted that the land was used by local residents as a short cut. 

1.6. The Council requested that, if the Registration Authority was minded to accede 

to the application, a non-statutory public inquiry should be held. 

2. The Public Inquiry

2.1. I was instructed by Kent County Council, as Registration Authority, to hold a 

non-statutory public inquiry into the application and to report in writing with 

my recommendation as to whether the Registration Authority ought to accept 

or reject the application.  I held a pre-inquiry meeting at which I gave 

directions for preparation for the inquiry in Ashford on 1
st
 December 2009. I 

held the public inquiry at Kennington United Church, at the corner of Ulley 

Road and Faversham Road, Kennington, Ashford, Kent on Monday 22
nd

February 2010.  An evening session was advertised to enable those whose 

work commitments meant they could not attend during the day to attend and 

give evidence. No-one notified the Registration Authority of their intention to 

attend the evening session and accordingly the evening session was not held. 

2.2. The Applicant, Mrs Boorman, appeared in person.  The Objector was 

represented by Miss Sarah Foster, a solicitor. 

2.3. I am grateful to Mr Christopher Wade and Miss Melanie McNeir, officers of 

the Registration Authority, who made the arrangements for the inquiry, and 

provided me with their customarily efficient and cheerful support and 

administrative assistance during the inquiry. 

3Page 10



3. The Applicant’s evidence

3.1. I heard oral evidence from six witnesses on behalf of the applicant, including 

the applicant herself. The local Kent County Councillor, Mrs Tweed, also 

appeared and gave evidence in support of the application.  In addition the 

applicant relied on the evidence contained in witness statements and letters 

signed by 11 further witnesses.  The evidence of those who provided written 

statements but did not give oral evidence has not been tested by cross-

examination, and therefore carries less weight than the evidence of those who 

have given oral evidence, but I must nevertheless take it into account. The 

applicant also relied on letters supporting the application from the following 

individuals and organisations: Christine Woolgar, a governor at a local 

school
2
, Kennington Community Forum (Chair: Mrs Boorman)

3
 and the 

Ashford District Committee of CPRE
4

 Kent .

Oral evidence on behalf of the Applicant

Mrs Patricia Boorman

106 Bybrook Road 

3.2. Mrs Boorman is the applicant. She provided an evidence questionnaire dated 

15
th

 February 2008
5
 and a witness statement dated 10

th
 February 2010

6
.  In her 

evidence questionnaire Mrs Boorman stated that she had known the land from 

1969 to date.  For the first years it was fields. She had used it from 1988 to 

date to walk on it, to cross to the other part of the estate, two days a week. Her 

family use the land for walking or for taking their little one to the play area.

Young people had played football on the land for over 20 years. There had 

been 5
th

 November bonfires and fireworks on the land.  For the 7 years to 2008 

there had also been a play area for the young on part of it.  She had participated 

in getting the play area installed.  She had seen children playing, football, 

bonfire parties, cycling, walking, dog walking, children in the play area and 

people sitting on the bench for the elderly on the land. Members of and 

workers for Ashford Borough Council had seen her on the land. She never 

sought nor was granted permission for activities on the land and had never 

been prevented from using it. 

3.3. In her witness statement Mrs Boorman stated that she has lived at her present 

address for 40 years and from 1987 onwards has taken her nephews and nieces 

and her partner’s grandchildren to play on the land. She had seen children and 

older youths and men playing football on the land. Youths had taken their own 

goal onto the land, which they took down when they finished.  She had seen 

people walking their dogs on the land, or just crossing the area.  She had seen 

people building a bonfire for 5
th

 November and having fireworks. In oral 

evidence Mrs Boorman added that one year she had had to ring the Council 

and ask for the residue to be removed. She had also seen people building 

snowmen and young people throwing snowballs.  She had seen some children 

2 A92 
3 A94 
4 A96 
5 A16 
6 A15 

4Page 11



riding their bikes.  There is also a seat on the land which had been requested 

for the elderly en route from the post office and shops to Gerlach House. She 

believed that the land needed to be preserved as a green for future families, 

especially those with no gardens.

3.4. In a document headed “Written Submission by Applicant” Mrs Boorman stated 

that she disagreed with the Council on two factual issues: firstly, Ms 

Lonsdale’s report to the Ashford Borough Council Executive Committee dated 

18
th

 October 2007 had stated that the land was poor grade open space, which 

housing managers reported was regularly used for dumping rubbish and 

occasionally abandoned cars, but Mrs Boorman said that this was totally 

untrue, and had never been the case. Secondly, Mrs Boorman pointed out that 

the Council’s photographs were mostly taken from the scaffolding, during 

working hours, when the children or youth were at school or college. Mrs 

Boorman also drew my attention to Councillor Paul Clokie (the leader of 

Ashford Borough Council)’s comments recorded in the minutes of the 

Kennington Community Forum meeting held on 27
th

 January 2009
7
, that the 

land was smaller than he recalled, and that there would not be an opportunity 

to include any green space should the proposed build go ahead, and that he 

noted that the area had been used for football as claimed in the application for 

registration of the land as a town or village green. 

3.5. Mrs Boorman wrote a letter dated 29
th

 January 2009
8
 in response to the 

Council’s objection in which she commented on the map showing other green 

spaces in the vicinity of the application land produced by the Council
9
.

3.6.  In response to my questions Mrs Boorman confirmed that the photographs on 

A21, A22 and A23 were all taken on the same day in March 2008. Those 

photographs show a group of about 9 teenagers playing football on the 

application land between the playground and the electricity station.  There also 

appears to be a smaller group with another ball to the north of the electricity 

station. In one of the photographs a boy pushing a bike is visible by the corner 

of the playground. The photograph dated 25
th

 January 2009 shows 4 teenage 

boys playing football on the application land.  They are using a goal net which 

is set up near the frontage to Beecholme Drive approximately opposite the end 

of Copperfield Drive.  Mrs Boorman said that this was the net which she had 

referred to in her written evidence.  The two photographs dated 11
th

 May 2008 

on A24, Mrs Boorman said, were taken on the same day. They appear to show 

a group of three boys kicking a ball about near the block containing 186 to 206 

Bybrook Road, and four other people, including two smaller boys, on the part 

of the application land near the block containing 164 to 184 Bybrook Road.

Mrs Boorman said that she was not sure when the photographs on A26 were 

taken, but she thought they would have been taken in 2008. Those photographs 

do not show anyone on the application land.  She thought that the photograph 

of the bench on A27 would have been taken in about February 2008.  That 

photograph does not show anyone on the land.  The photographs at A118 and 

7 A98 
8 A116 
9 A115 and O26 

5Page 12



following of the applicant’s bundle are Ashford Borough Council’s 

photographs.

3.7. In cross-examination Mrs Boorman was asked to identify the area to the west 

of Grasmere Road shown blank on A13: she said it was a piece of grass 

opposite the bungalows. As far as she was aware there was nothing on it. She 

did not accept that there was a children’s play area or teen shelter there.  She 

was next asked about the area behind the school on Rylands Road. She said 

that there is a small children’s play area and a larger one for older children 

there.  She was asked where the people come from who would use that: she 

said Rylands Road and further over, the other side of the school.  She was 

asked next about the area next to Gerlach house.  She said that there is a green 

space there and a small play area and a teen shelter which was put there by 

Ashford Borough Council with no consultation.  She agreed that the play area 

next to Gerlach House is one that might be used by children, but said it is not 

often used, because the police had had problems with mini motorbikes up 

there. The people who used that play area she thought might come from Nine 

Acres. She was asked whether people coming from the area which she had 

coloured as the claimed neighbourhood might use those areas. She said maybe, 

but they wanted the application land for the children in her area, because they 

did not want to cross Bybrook Road.  She was asked then whether one would 

expect that the application land would be quite heavily used if the people in the 

neighbourhood were using that in preference to other areas. She said there 

were quite a few people who use the land. 

3.8. Mrs Boorman was asked about her statement that there was never any rubbish 

or abandoned vehicles on the site and was referred to the notes of the meeting 

of the Bybrook Block Project held on 23
rd

 February 2007, appended to Giles 

Holloway’s statement at O59, and the bullet point “Barry dealing with 

abandoned scooter”. She said that the note did not say where the scooter was, 

and that it was within the block area, rather than on the application land itself. 

The scooter was outside one of the blocks, attached to a post. 

3.9. Mrs Boorman was asked about her answer at 19a of her evidence questionnaire 

and whether the 7 years she referred to related to the play area or the bonfire. 

She said that it related to the play area.  The bonfire was an annual event, on 

and off, not every year.  She did not organise it, it was the teenagers who 

organised it. 

3.10. Mrs Boorman agreed that the application land is often used as a cut through for 

people to go from one area to another. 

3.11. I asked Mrs Boorman about the process by which the playground came to be 

situated on the land. The Planning for Real project was a public consultation 

exercise during which children were invited to say where they would like play 

areas.  As a result of that Ashford Borough Council decided to locate the 

children’s play area on the application land.

Mrs Patricia Lednor

103 Beecholme Drive 

6Page 13



3.12. Mrs Lednor lives in one of the houses in the row (105-99) running 

perpendicular to Beecholme Drive. 

3.13. Mrs Lednor provided a letter dated 6
th

 February 2010
10

. She did not complete 

an evidence questionnaire.  Mrs Lednor said that she was opposed to houses 

being built on the application land, as she uses it to take her grandsons to play 

football and games.  In the good weather men and young lads play football. 

They also use it on their bikes.  Mrs Lednor said that she had had to complain 

about the lads playing football outside her house and number 101, on the 

square grass area. The football destroys plants and the balls hit the doors and 

windows of the properties. The boys have now stopped playing there, but she 

is concerned that if the application land is developed they will return. She is 

also concerned that the proposed development will mean more cars parked in 

the street, and that the street is not able to cope with that. 

3.14. In oral evidence Mrs Lednor explained that the area outside her house is 

enclosed by houses on three sides, and garages on the fourth, so when children 

play football there, they know they can kick the ball as hard as they like and it 

will not go out of that area.  She commented that all the parks in the area are 

on slanted land, in particular the one on Rylands Road, and that the application 

land is the only piece of flat grass there is.

3.15. In cross-examination Mrs Lednor confirmed that she is a council tenant. She 

has lived at her present address since 1983. She was not asked any further 

questions.

Mrs Evelyn Morrison

188 Byebrook Road 

3.16. Mrs Morrison provided a letter dated 25
th

 January 2010
11

 in which she stated 

that she has lived at her present address for 15 years. Her flat is on the ground 

floor and faces the application land.  She has never had any problems with 

children or grown ups.  She used to take her dog, knitting or books and a chair 

and watch the children playing on the land until she was persuaded to play 

with them. She had also sat and watched grownups play football. When they 

were younger they had a proper club. She had played rounders and tennis with 

a pretend net on the land. When it is nice and dry and warm the land is full of 

children. She played snowballs when it snowed. The older boys have now 

bought their own goal post, which they take home every night.  There used to 

be a brick wall just outside her living room window on which at times there 

were children young and old either just sitting and talking, or walking along 

and jumping off it.  She said that never in all the years she had lived at her 

present address had there ever been burnt out cars or excess rubbish on the 

land.  The only time afire had been lit was 5
th

 November for bonfire night, and 

it had been supervised. 

3.17. Mrs Morrison also completed an evidence questionnaire in which she stated 

that she had known the land from 1986 to date and had used it for the same 

10 A38 
11 A40 

7Page 14



period. She gained access to the land by walking onto it, and went onto it to 

cross to friends and socially.  She used the land daily. She took part in the 

following activities: walking, watching football and snowballing in the winter.

She has seen biking, tennis and football, children playing, rounders, dog 

walking, team games, cricket, bird watching and people walking on the land. 

Bonfire night activities take place on the land seasonally.  She knew that the 

land was owned by Ashford Borough Council and thought that she had been 

seen on the land by the Council. Nothing had been said. She had never sought 

nor been granted permission to go onto the land. No attempt had been made to 

discourage the use being made of the land by local inhabitants. 

3.18. In oral evidence Mrs Morrison said that her bathroom, bedroom and living 

room face the application land. There were 15 children on the land on Sunday 

21
st
 February 2010.  The day the motorbike was found Mrs Morrison was 

doing a walkabout with a couple of other people including Mrs Boorman. It 

was nowhere near the application land. 

3.19. The bonfire was supervised, she was not sure whether by older boys or by 

grown ups.  A couple of times it had got out of control, and fire engines had 

been called, but otherwise it had been fine.  If the ball hits the wall, the 

children apologise. She said Mrs Boorman had worked hard on the application 

and she hoped that the land would be preserved. 

3.20. In cross-examination Mrs Morrison confirmed that the block in which her flat 

is contained is on the southern corner of Grasmere Road and Bybrook Road.  

She is a council tenant, and has been since she was 21.  She is currently in her 

16
th

 year of being where she is now. She was not asked any further questions. 

Mrs Valerie Evans

140 Beecholme Drive 

3.21. Mrs Evans provided a letter dated 3
rd

 February 2010 in which she stated that 

she had lived in Beecholme Drive for the last 8 years.  When she had a dog she 

used to walk it on the land, as many other dog walkers do.  The boys used to 

play football on the land, and even brought along their own goal.  She thought 

that since the discussions and press coverage about the land, the boys had 

thought that they could not use it.  She thought it would be a shame to build on 

the land.  Mrs Evans did not complete an evidence questionnaire.   

3.22. In oral evidence Mrs Evans said that the bigger boys now play over by the 

library, where the council have put a goal and a teenage shelter, so the younger 

ones cannot go over there.  A lot of the younger ones use the land to run 

around on. 

3.23. Mrs Evans was asked in cross-examination to clarify where the older children 

play: she said it is by the community centre and library.  She was asked from 

where they came. She said all around by her, and in the flats.  Mrs Evans lives 

in a bungalow, one of three in a row behind one of the blocks of flats. She is a 

council tenant and has lived at her present address for 8 years, just going into 

her ninth year now. She was not asked any further questions. 

8Page 15



Mrs Michelle Goodwin

5 Riding Hill 

3.24. Mrs Goodwin provided a witness statement in the form of a letter dated 8
th

February 2010
12

.  She also provided an evidence questionnaire dated 5
th

 April 

2008
13

 and wrote a letter to Kent County Council in support of the application 

dated 6
th

 January 2009
14

.

3.25. In her letters Mrs Goodwin stated that she was very much in favour of the 

application land being made officially into a town green.  She had lived in the 

area for over 35 years, and for 16 years of that time had had a view over the 

application land. Her elder son, James, used the land for many years to play 

football with his friends. For a while Mrs Goodwin and James lived in the 

maisonettes directly on the application land. This was when James was 8. The 

land was his only place to play safely and socialise with his friends.  When 

they moved to a house two streets away, James continued to play on the land 

with his friends, riding bikes and playing football. Her younger son, Toby, now 

uses the land to play with his friends, just as his older brother did. Children 

play football on the land, and local people walk their dogs there. The teenagers 

have football matches on the land on a regular basis, often carrying nets across 

from their gardens. She had seen youngsters learning to ride bicycles on the 

land.  The land had been part of many people’s “growing up years”. 

3.26. In her evidence questionnaire Mrs Goodwin stated that she had known the land 

and used it since 1993.  She had lived at the following addresses when she 

used the land: 202 Bybrook Road, and 23 Rectory Way.  She used the land 

during the summer months and took part in football and Frisbee. Her 

immediate family used the land for football, bike riding and socialising.

Bonfire parties had taken place on the land yearly for more than 20 years.  She 

had seen the following activities taking place on the land: children playing, 

rounders, dog walking, team games, football, cricket, picnicking, kite flying, 

people walking, bonfire parties and bicycle riding. She knew that the land was 

owned by Ashford Borough Council, and believed that the Council had seen 

her on the land. Nothing had been said.  She had never sought permission for 

activities on the land nor been prevented from using the land. No attempt had 

been made to discourage the use being made of the land by local inhabitants.

3.27. In oral evidence Mrs Goodwin was asked to clarify where she had lived during 

what periods.  She lived at 202 Bybrook Road from when her son was 8 and he 

is now 22, so from 14 years ago, from about 1996.   A few years after that she 

moved to Rectory Way, and then she moved to Riding Hill 9 years ago. From 

when she was 8 she lived in Hurst Road with her parents, and she moved from 

there to the Bybrook Road maisonette. Mrs Goodwin is 42.  She and her son 

lived with her parents from when he was born until when he was 8. She was 

not sure why she said she had known the land since 1993 in her evidence 

questionnaire, because she had known it since she was a child, because she 

used to walk to school, on the footpath at the side of the land.  She had no 

12 A29 
13 A33 
14 A31 

9Page 16



specific memory of using the land as a child. She had no idea why she had 

written 1993 as the date from which she had known and used the land in her 

evidence questionnaire. Mrs Goodwin was a council tenant at Bybrook Road 

and Rectory Way, and left council accommodation to buy 5 Riding Hill 

privately.

3.28. I am satisfied that Mrs Goodwin has known the land since well before 1993. 

She had no recollection of using the land herself as a child.  I am satisfied that 

she and her children have used the land since at least 1996.  It is possible that 

her use of the land with her son started when her son was of an age to take him 

to the playground there and that that is why she wrote 1993 in her evidence 

questionnaire.

Mr William T Clark

40 Larch Walk 

3.29. Mr Clark wrote a letter dated 27
th

 December 2008 in support of the 

application. He did not complete an evidence questionnaire.  Mr Clark was not 

on the list of people whom the applicant expected to give oral evidence, but he 

attended the inquiry and indicated that he wished to give oral evidence. Ms 

Foster did not object to his being called.  I permitted him to be called, after 

having given Ms Foster an opportunity to re-read his letter and consider what 

questions in cross-examination she wished to ask of him. 

3.30. In his letter Mr Clark stated that he has lived at his present address for 30 

years, and was able to confirm that the application land had always been used 

as a recreation area for local residents and their children.  He was concerned 

that the Registration Authority might have been informed that the application 

land had been used for dumping and said that this was not true. He had only 

seen the area being used by children for playing games and other outdoor 

activities.  He was in favour of the land being registered as a green. 

3.31. In oral evidence Mr Clark confirmed that his house is outside the claimed 

neighbourhood. He is not a council tenant.  He was asked how he knows the 

land.  He passed it on his way to work, and on his way to town, by car.  At 

weekends when they used to walk in the area, they often came past it.  He had 

seen it in use for the past 30 years, although he had not used it himself.  Mr 

Clark was asked whether he was aware of the other areas of open space 

referred to at the inquiry. He said this was the only piece of land for the flats, 

and that for smaller children, their parents wanted to be able to look out of the 

window and see them.  The application land was the area that those people 

would use, those who lived closer to the other spaces would use them.  

Councillor Elizabeth Tweed

 46 High Street, Charing 

3.32. Mrs Tweed is the County Councillor for Ashford Central, which ward includes 

the application land. She attended the inquiry and indicated that she wished to 

give oral evidence. Ms Foster did not object, and, after having given Ms Foster 

an opportunity to read the statement Mrs Tweed wished to make, I permitted 

Mrs Tweed to be called. 

10Page 17



3.33. Mrs Tweed provided a written statement in support of the application.  She 

stated that she had been familiar with the area for 25 years, and had been the 

local Member since 2005. She had never seen burned out vehicles dumped on 

the application land.  Although there is other open space available locally, it is 

unsuitable for games or for people to congregate, because, in the instance of 

the area on Rylands Road, the ground slopes.  The elderly residents had made 

it clear that they would not want to attract people to the area more actively, and 

objected when it was proposed that the youth shelter be moved there.  The 

youth shelter by Gerlach House has been placed there in breach of Home 

Office guidelines which stated that there should be a “drive-by” opportunity 

for discreet policing, especially for the safety of the youth, who could 

otherwise be attacked in a shelter which is too tucked away.  The residents of 

the flats like to know that their children are within view. They regularly play 

on the application land.  Mrs Tweed had witnessed this over the years. 

3.34. Since Bockhanger Library has been open one evening a week for youngsters to 

use the Wii fitness machine (Mrs Tweed explained in oral evidence that this 

has only started in recent months), that facility has been oversubscribed.  The 

youngsters have nowhere to go.  Mrs Tweed said that young people had turned 

out in force to the local community group meeting and the Youth Advisory 

Group meeting in Bockhanger to plead for somewhere to kick a ball around. 

They want to keep this space.  Mrs Tweed commented that compared to 

Stanhope, this area has little or no provision.  Both are deprived areas, but 

more is invested, and there are more facilities, in Stanhope.  Mrs Tweed said 

that as a local Member, her biggest problem has been making sure youngsters 

have somewhere to play where they can be seen, for their own well-being, as 

well as that of local residents.

3.35. Older folks enjoy dog walking on the application land, and just enjoy a bit of 

green, especially those with no garden. 

3.36. In oral evidence Mrs Tweed added that the maintenance of the land is paid for 

by council tenants out of their council tax, part of which goes towards the 

maintenance of the land in question.  

3.37. In cross-examination Mrs Tweed was asked how far Charing is from the 

application land. She said that Charing is about 8 miles away.  She moved to 

Charing in 2007, from Kennington, where she had lived between 1984 and 

2007. She is a governor of Phoenix School, and visits the area regularly.  She 

agreed that she had earlier said that she thought that the application land fell 

within Bockhanger Ward.  She said that the boundary is indeterminate at that 

point. She remembers the councillor for Bockhanger dealing with 

correspondence relating to Grasmere Road, but also had remembered that the 

councillor for Bybrook had visited the flats.  

3.38. Mrs Tweed was shown a map produced by the Council which showed that the 

application land falls within Bybrook, and that the claimed neighbourhood 

falls partly within Bockhanger and partly within Bybrook wards.  She did not 

dispute that the map was correct. 

11Page 18



Written evidence on behalf of the Applicant

Mrs Carole Cole

30 Larch Walk 

3.39. Mrs Cole provided a letter dated 5
th

 February 2010
15

.  Her present address is 

outside the claimed neighbourhood. She stated that she had lived in the area for 

the past 30 years. During this time the application land had always been used 

by young people for football, cricket and other recreational activities.  It is also 

used as a general meeting point for people walking and exercising their dogs. 

Ms Pauline Colvin

36 Copperfield Close 

3.40. Ms Colvin provided an evidence questionnaire dated 13
th

 February 2008. She 

gave her present address as her address when she used the land.  Her address is 

within the claimed neighbourhood. She had known and used the land from 

1971 to date. She played with the children on the land and walked over it. She 

used it because it is close to where she lives.  She used it every day to walk 

across, and in winter, when it snows, to build snowmen with her daughter.  She 

watches the children playing football. Firework night and football take place 

seasonally on the land.  She has seen the following activities on the land: 

children playing, rounders, dog walking, team games, football, picnicking, 

barbecues, kite flying, people walking, bonfire parties and bicycle riding.  She 

knew that Ashford Borough Council owned the land. She thought the Council 

had seen her on the land. Nothing had been said. She never sought nor was 

granted permission to go onto the land.  She had not been prevented from 

using the land. No attempt had been made to discourage the use being made of 

the land by local inhabitants. 

Mr Dean Colvin

36 Copperfield Close 

3.41. Mr Colvin provided an evidence questionnaire dated 13
th

 February 2008. He 

gave his present address as his address when he used the land. His address is 

within the claimed neighbourhood. He had known and used the land from 1995 

to date. He played football on the land and used it for his remote controlled 

cars. He used the land because there is nowhere else to go and it is at the back 

of his house.  He uses it every day in summer, and in the winter when it snows.

He takes part in football and run-outs. His immediate family uses the land to 

play.  Bonfire and fireworks and football take place on the land.  He plays in 

the park at the edge with his little sister. People use the land to have barbecues. 

He has seen the following activities on the land: children playing, rounders, 

dog walking, team games, football, picnicking, kite flying, people walking, 

bonfire parties and bicycle riding.  He stated that he knew who owned the land, 

but did not specify whom. He thought the owner had seen him on the land. 

Nothing had been said. He never sought nor was granted permission to go onto 

the land.  He had not been prevented from using the land. No attempt had been 

made to discourage the use being made of the land by local inhabitants. 

15 A47 

12Page 19



Mr Howard Dear

164 Bybrook Road 

3.42. Mr Dear completed an evidence questionnaire dated 7
th

 March 2008
16

 in which 

he stated that he had known the land from 2003 to 2008 and had seen it being 

used during the same period. He uses the land to walk across it now and again. 

He has seen others, including the local youth football club playing football on 

it and games. He had also seen children playing, dog walking, team games, 

community celebrations, fetes, cricket, people walking, bonfire parties and 

bicycle riding taking place on the land. He knew that Ashford Borough 

Council was the owner of the land, but did not know whether the Council had 

seen him on the land. In reply to the question “was permission ever sought by 

you for activities on the land”, he wrote “yes”, then crossed it out and wrote 

“no”.  In reply to the question if so, from whom and when, he wrote area 

manager. Again, in reply to the question “did anyone ever give you permission 

to go onto the land”, he wrote “yes”, then crossed it out and wrote “no”.   He 

stated that he had never been prevented from using the land. No attempt had 

been made to discourage the use being made of the land by local inhabitants.

3.43. Use of the land to walk across it is not use for lawful sports and pastimes.  Mr 

Dear does not claim to have made any use of the land himself for lawful sports 

and pastimes, but I accept his evidence that he has seen others using the land 

for lawful sports and pastimes since 2003. 

Mr and Mrs P Hoover

105 Beecholme Drive 

3.44. Mr and Mrs Hoover provided an evidence questionnaire dated 2
nd

 June 2008
17

,

signed by only one of them.  They live within the claimed neighbourhood.  

They had known the land from 1960 to 2008 and seen it used from the 1960s 

to 2008. They gained access to the land by walking across it, and went onto it 

to get to the shops, and with the grandchildren to play on it.  They used the 

land every day. Their immediate family use the land for playing football and 

walking the dog.  They had seen the following activities on the land: children 

playing, dog walking, team games, football, picnicking, people walking, 

bonfire parties and bicycle riding.  They knew that the land was owned by 

Ashford Borough Council, and thought that the Council had seen them on the 

land. Nothing was said. They never sought nor were granted permission to go 

onto the land.  They had not been prevented from using the land. No attempt 

had been made to discourage the use being made of the land by local 

inhabitants.

Mr Terry Lacey

158 Grasmere Road 

3.45. Mr Lacey provided an email dated 27
th

 January 2010 in which he stated that he 

and his wife strongly opposed building on the application land and supported 

the town green application. Mr Lacey lives at the southern end of Grasmere 

Road, inside the claimed neighbourhood. He had walked his dog on the land 

since she was born 13 years ago. He saw many other dog owners doing the 

16 A59 
17 A64 

13Page 20



same.  He regularly saw young children and teenagers playing cricket and 

football on the land. 

Miss C L Oram

35 Beaver Lane 

3.46. Miss Oram provided a letter dated 9
th

 February 2010
18

 in which she stated that 

she used to live at 110 Bybrook Road with her son and dogs for 5 years, and 

used the application land almost daily throughout that period.  Her son used to 

play in the park and on the grass. She used to walk her dogs on the land most 

days, twice a day. She often saw other people playing there or walking their 

dogs. She opposed the proposed development.  Miss Oram also provided an 

evidence questionnaire dated 3
rd

 June 2008
19

 in which she gave her then 

address as 110 Bybrook Road.  She stated that she had known and used the 

land from April 2004 to date to walk her dog and take her son to play football 

and to the park.  She used the land every day.  Her immediate family used the 

land for dog walking, walking, football, play area and picnic area.  Fireworks 

took place seasonally on the land.  She had seen the following activities on the 

land: children playing, dog walking, team games, football, picnicking, kite 

flying, people walking, bonfire parties and bicycle riding. She did not know 

who the owner or occupier of the land was. She had never sought nor been 

granted permission to use the land, or been prevented from using the land.  No 

attempt had been made to discourage the use of the land by local inhabitants. 

Ms Annette Pearce

30 Copperfield Close 

3.47. Ms Pearce provided an undated statement
20

 in which she stated that she lived 

in Kennington for 6 months in 1979, and walked home past the application 

land.  She always saw a game of football being played on the land.  She moved 

to Kennington permanently in 1981 and brought her children up there.  She 

took her children over to the application land, let them play ball and meet other 

children.  When they were old enough to play on their own, they played on the 

application land. Her son used the land right up through his teens, together 

with all the other boys of his age.  She asked that the land should be made into 

a park. 

Mr Peter Pearce

30 Copperfield Close 

3.48. Mr Pearce provided an undated statement
21

 in which he stated that as a child, 

growing up in Nine Acres, he had used the field in Cemetery Lane to play 

games.  That area had been used to enlarge the cemetery. In his opinion the 

children need the playing area in Beecholme Drive.   He used to take his own 

children to the land to play ball games with them. 

Mrs Diana M. S. Peswani

118 Bybrook Road 

18 A70 
19 A71 
20 A76 
21 A77 

14Page 21



3.49. Mrs Peswani provided a written statement dated 4
th

 February 2010
22

 in which 

she stated that she had lived with her twin daughters at her present address 

since September 1996, when her daughters were 4 years old.  The twins are 

now 17. Particularly when they were young, they would regularly walk across 

the application land. The twins have played on the land, accompanied by Mrs 

Peswani.  The twins have taken younger children to play there. As a family, 

the Peswanis took part in the Bybrook and Bockhanger Community Group 

walkabouts over many years.  The route would often include walking across 

the application land.

3.50. Mrs Peshwani’s kitchen window looks over the application land.  She has seen 

local people using the land, including: in warm dry weather, men and boys 

playing football every day, even putting a goalpost in place.  She had seen 

young grandfathers, their son and grandsons all playing football together.

Every November, without fail, a bonfire is built on the land which is lit on 5
th

November. It usually continues to be added to and re-lit for about a week, until 

all the Guy Fawkes celebrations are over.  In January 2010, a huge snowman 

was built on the land.  In the summer, young mothers who have no gardens get 

together to hire a bouncy castle, and create a seaside theme park with a 

paddling pool and picnics, allowing the children to play together, and the 

mothers to sit and chat.  An enormous number of local residents walk and run 

their dogs over and in the application land. The Council has provided a dog-

pooh bin, which is used.  Access to the application land has always been open.  

People have never been told they should not use it.  In Mrs Peswani’s opinion 

the land is a very important part of community life.  

3.51. Mrs Peswani also completed an evidence questionnaire dated 8
th

 June 2008
23

.

She stated that she had known and used the land from 1996 to date for leisure 

walks or to gain access to neighbouring areas, and to accompany friends’ 

young children to play and on estate walkabouts with Ashford Borough 

Council.  She used the land on a regular basis, dependent on weather 

conditions, often several times per week.  Her twin daughters used the land for 

the same activities.  In response to the question whether she knew of any 

community activities which take place on the land, she listed regular 

community football games (daily, in good weather) organised by local 

residents, walking, especially estate walkabouts, and bouncy castles, organised 

by local mothers. She listed as activities she had seen taking place on the land: 

children playing, dog walking, team games, football, picnicking, people 

walking, bonfire parties, bicycle riding, bouncy castle and sometimes paddling 

pools. She knew that Ashford Borough Council owned the land, and stated that 

the Council had seen her on the land as she regularly participated in estate 

walkabouts.  The discussions had been about investigating the improvements 

required to the estate and the progress of improvements and assessing any 

damage or problems on the estate. She had never sought permission to use the 

land, and said that it was not necessary, as the land is completely open and 

there are no barriers to entry. She had never been prevented from using the 

22 A78 
23 A82 

15Page 22



land. She said that, as a local resident, she had been actively encouraged to use 

the land for walking as part of the local estate walkabouts. 

Mrs M Relf

108 Bybrook Road 

3.52. Mrs Relf provided an evidence questionnaire dated 4
th

 June 2008
24

 in which 

she stated that she had known and used the land from 1998 to date to play with 

her children, about twice weekly. Her son rides his bike and plays ball on the 

land.  Bonfire celebrations take place on the land.  She had seen the following 

activities on the land: children playing, rounders, dog walking, football, 

picnicking, kite flying, people walking, bonfire parties and bicycle riding. She 

stated that she knew who the owner and occupier of the land were, but did not 

know whether they had seen her on the land. She had never sought nor been 

granted permission to use the land, or been prevented from using the land.  No 

attempt had been made to discourage the use of the land by local inhabitants. 

Documentary evidence provided by the applicant

3.53. The applicant included a number of documents in her bundle, some of which 

were mentioned during the course of oral evidence. A number of the 

documents within the applicant’s bundle originated from the objector. I have 

re-read all of the applicant’s documents, whether specifically mentioned in this 

report or not.

The Petition

3.54. The applicant sought signatures on a petition which read as following: 

“Commons Act 2006 – section 15 

Application to register a new Town or Village Green and Beecholme Drive, 

Bybrook, Ashford (parcel of land at the junction of Beecholme Drive and 

Grasmere Road) 

We the undersigned very much value this open space, which has been 

used for informal recreation for over 20 years.  This open green space 

has been an invaluable asset to the community in many ways, for 

example as a children’s play area. 

We recognise that this part of Kennington has significant deprivation 

with regard to open space provision. 

We request that this open space be designated as a Town/Village 

Green, to ensure current and future generations have the same benefits 

that we have enjoyed.” 

3.55. The petition was signed by 350 individuals.

4. The Objector’s evidence

4.1. I heard oral evidence from three witnesses on behalf of the objector.

24 A87 

16Page 23



Mrs Tracey Kerly

Ashford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford 

4.2. Mrs Kerly provided a written statement 11
th

 February 2010
25

. Mrs Kerley is 

Ashford Borough Council’s Head of Housing.  She is responsible for the 

running and operation of the landlord function to the Council’s housing stock 

of 5050 homes, the delivery of services to applicants seeking housing, dealing 

with those who are homeless, working closely with providers of new 

affordable housing to meet the shortfall in provision, building new affordable 

rented homes on housing assets, assisting the private sector in obtaining access 

to grants for home improvements and adaptations and working with private 

sector landlords to improve the condition of their stock. 

4.3. Mrs Kerly set out in detail the Council’s housing ambitions and targets, and 

explained the background to the decision to regenerate the Bybrook Road flats, 

and to seek to develop part of the application land. 

4.4. In oral evidence Mrs Kerley explained that both Stanhope, on the southern side 

of Ashford, and Kennington have large council estates on them.  The council is 

in the process of updating its housing needs survey. The survey is currently in 

draft, but estimates that the council needs approximately 650 affordable homes 

a year to meet its housing needs. Mrs Kerley said that the council thought that 

the proposed development would make the area left safer for children, as the 

remaining open space would be surrounded by housing. 

4.5. In oral evidence Mrs Kerly was asked to clarify how much of the application 

land will be taken up by the development, and how much would be left.  She 

said that the area which the Council proposes to develop is the frontage to 

Beecholme Drive, so that the rear boundary of the developed area will be a line 

from the corner of 3 Beecholme Drive to the corner of the application land on 

Grasmere Road. The play area and surrounding green space will remain 

undeveloped.

4.6. The grass cutting is funded by the housing revenue account.  Anyone who uses 

the land who is not a tenant is using it by choice. It is not council tax which 

pays for the grass cutting.  The housing revenue account is ring fenced, and is 

not cross-subsidised by the general fund, or vice versa. The land is housing 

amenity land. When purchased it would have been intended to be used 

predominantly by council tenants, because the area is predominantly a council 

estate, but with the right to buy, ownership of the estate has changed. The land 

was bought with the intention of development.  Mrs Kerly said that this is an 

opportunity to continue with the work, and finish the development. 

4.7. The land is a council-owned asset, which is an open space area with no real 

value in terms of providing anything functional to the community.  The council 

is seeking to use an under-utilised asset to fulfil its functions by providing 

affordable housing. The competition she described in her statement was about 

providing something which met the needs of the community. 

25 O105 

17Page 24



4.8. In cross-examination Mrs Kerly was asked about the use of the housing 

revenue account money to look at whether it would be beneficial to 

amalgamate the tenant services with 5 other councils’ tenant services. She said 

that was a legitimate use of the money. 

4.9. Mrs Kerly was asked about the provision of parking for the proposed 

development. She said that the proposals were still subject to consultation, and 

had not yet been the subject of a planning application. The details are changing 

and parking and traffic are planning and highways issues. She said the same in 

response to a question about the proposed access. 

4.10. Although Mrs Kerly provided useful background information, none of her 

evidence was directly relevant to the issues before the inquiry. 

Mr Giles Holloway

Ashford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford 

4.11. Mr Holloway provided a written statement dated 10
th

 February 2010
26

. Mr 

Holloway is employed by Ashford Borough Council as a Building Surveyor.

He is part of the team which is responsible for the planned maintenance of the 

authority’s housing stock, including refurbishment and environmental projects, 

regeneration schemes, and delivering new build sites as part of the Homes and 

Communities Agency’s Kick-Start programme.  

4.12. Mr Holloway set out the variety of methods that his team uses to encourage 

participation by tenants and the local community in its projects and gave 

details of the consultation that had taken place in relation to the proposal to 

regenerate the Beecholme Drive site and to develop part of the application 

land. In oral evidence Mr Holloway stated that the application for planning 

permission application referred to in his statement that had been made by the 

Council in September 2006 was for the cladding of the blocks and the 

landscaping, not for the proposed development. 

4.13. Mr Holloway provided a chronology of the development by the Council in the 

vicinity of the application land and illustrated this chronology with a map at 

O35.  After private development of Bybrook Road and Tadworth Road, 

development has continued progressively, from Canterbury Road, north and 

east, to join with Faversham Road.  The Council had carried out the following 

development.  Nine Acres (mainly system built concrete construction terraced 

houses but including some flats) was built in 1965. In tandem with that 

development, Bybrook Road was developed by extending the road beyond its 

former turning head and building predominantly terraced housing facing the 

road or fed from walks onto it, and the flat and maisonette blocks in Bybrook 

Road, two of which face onto the application site.  A row of bungalows were 

added to the Bybrook site in 1975.  The Council acquired further land in 1972, 

and in 1981 the Beecholme Drive development was extended from Grasmere 

Road round to the bungalows.  The houses on Beecholme Drive, Rectory Way 

and Gerlach House were constructed in 1981. Mardol Road, Mr Holloway 

stated, appeared to have been developed a year later, in 1982.  In 1985 

26 O27 

18Page 25



Copperfield Close and Old Ash Close, an infill development to the west of 

Vicarage Lane and Grosvenor Hall were constructed. In the early 1980s, 

Grasmere Road was extended northwards, and housing was constructed along 

it, by a private developer. 

4.14. The Council constructed a total of 787 units on these five council house 

development sites.  365 units remain in Council ownership. The remainder 

have been purchased under the Right to Buy or transferred to a housing 

association.

4.15. Mr Holloway described the site: he stated that as the area had been developed, 

the site was left of grass and became part of the space surrounding the low rise 

blocks in Bybrook Road.  The site is a grassed area with very few features. 

There are some trees, but these are on the perimeter.  A bench has been located 

on the north eastern perimeter of the site, looking onto the road. There is an 

electrical sub-station on the south western perimeter. 

4.16. Mr Holloway stated that there are a number of problems with the site: it has 

become a cut-across for those living in Nine Acres, Rectory Way and 

Beecholme Drive seeking to access the shops and community centre, bus stop 

and primary school.  He stated that the desire lines were so many that no clear 

tracks had appeared.  This had reduced the privacy of the residents of the low 

rise blocks.  Secondly, the site has a rubbish problem: a considerable amount 

of rubbish is dumped by people, in the knowledge that Housing Services will 

remove it in an effort to keep the area tidy. The rubbish appears near the 

residential blocks and in the open spaces, including furniture, old appliances, 

or bagged household rubbish. Mr Holloway stated that the Council’s 

Environmental Service is often asked to clear rubbish as it appears.  The area is 

poorly drained and generally becomes waterlogged in the autumn and winter.

He said that in his opinion this made the claim about sports being played on 

the site surprising.  The site is sterile in terms of biodiversity. 

4.17. Mr Holloway set out the proposal for development of part of the application 

site, and the reasons behind the decision to seek to develop the site. 

4.18. Mr Holloway stated that Council tenants, ex-Council tenants and others had, 

over the years, sought the Council’s permission to undertake various projects 

and activities on the application site and on other pieces of amenity land in the 

area. In his opinion the land had been provided for Council tenants for their 

use by right.  He gave as examples of projects on other pieces of amenity land: 

the Jubilee garden between 98-118 and 120-140 Bybrook Road, where tenants, 

including Mrs Boorman, had sought the Council’s consent to construct a 

fenced garden; the toddler area between 120-140 and 142-162 Bybrook Road, 

where Mrs Boorman had raised some money, and requested a space for a small 

play area for younger users; and the allotment behind 98-118 Bybrook Road. 

On the application land itself the Council had been approached through the 

Planning for Real exercise to offer an area of land on the application site for 

play facilities.  In 2001 the Council consulted, and the play area was completed 

by 2003.  The Council paid for the facility.  Mr Holloway stated that there had 

been a request in 2008 to move the MUGA from the old Community School  

19Page 26



site to the application land, but this was not supported by the Council’s 

Housing Service or by the Police Architectural section. Finally Mr Holloway 

stated that there had been a request to hold a demonstration against the 

proposed development of the application site on the application site. He said 

that this request was made at the time the original village green application 

was made. Permission had been refused by the Council. 

4.19. In oral evidence Mr Holloway was asked to describe other open spaces in the 

vicinity of the application land.  He said that there is an open grassed area at 

the top of Grasmere Road, in the middle of the private development.  There is 

a play area to one side of Gerlach House, on one side of Rectory Way, with a 

green area, and play equipment. He has not seen the teen shelter referred to by 

other witnesses himself.  He would expect people from Nine Acres and 

Rectory Road to use that area. There is also a green area off Rylands Road, at 

the back of the school, with two play areas.  He would expect those in Rylands 

Road and to the north to use that area. There is also a teen shelter and a metal 

goal at the community centre on Bybrook Road.   

4.20. The reference to a request for the MUGA to be moved to the application site 

was to a request by Councillor Tweed and possibly also by Mrs Boorman, to 

relocate the MUGA which had been lost from the Community School site to 

the application site. He thought that the request had been a reaction to the 

proposed development. It was a request to locate play facilities on the area.

4.21. He remembered the request for the demonstration coming in, but did not 

document it. He did not receive the request himself.  He was not sure whether 

it was before or after the application was made. He certainly knew that the 

application was to be made or had been made at the time he heard about the 

request.

4.22. I asked Mr Holloway about the Bybrook and Bockhanger community group.  

He said that the Bybrook and Bockhanger community group was set up by the 

tenant liason officer. It meets at Gerlach house on a monthly basis.  He had 

been on the group’s walkabout on one occasion. It had covered Beecholme 

Drive and parts of Nine Acres. He was not sure what area the community 

group covered. He thought it covered the residents from Copperfield as well. 

He thought attendance at its meetings was open to all. He had only attended 

the group’s meetings to make presentations in connection with this project and 

because he wanted to contact as many local groups in the area as possible. 

4.23. In cross-examination Mrs Boorman asked Mr Holloway where the rubbish was 

which he referred to in his statement: he said that when he spoke of the site he 

meant the 10 blocks and the area behind.  He agreed that it might be that the 

rubbish was between the blocks and around the blocks, rather than on the 

application land itself; all he knew was that environmental services attended 

the site as a whole to remove rubbish.

4.24. Mr Holloway has been employed by the Council since 2000, and moved to 

Housing Services in 2002.  He agreed that the garages had fallen into disrepair 

before they were demolished. He did not know about the drying areas, as they

20Page 27



were before his time. He had removed two sets of pram sheds, one to provide 

the allotment area, and said that they were dilapidated when they were 

removed.  

4.25. In relation to the MUGA, it was put to Mr Holloway that the proposal was that 

funding might be available for a purpose built MUGA on the application site.  

Mr Holloway was not sure when in 2008 the suggestion that the MUGA 

should be re-sited had been made. It was put to him that it had been early in 

2007 that the MUGA at Phoenix School had been pulled down. He said he 

must have got the information from somewhere and maybe 2008 related to the 

date of one of the meetings concerning the proposal. 

4.26. It was put to Mr Holloway that no request had been made by the community 

forum to hold a demonstration against the proposed development. He said he 

had not documented it, but knew that a call had been received from someone.  

Mrs Sue Smith

Ashford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford 

4.27. Mrs Smith provided a written statement dated 9
th

 February 2010. Mrs Smith is 

a Fellow of the Institute of Legal Executives, and is employed by Ashford 

Borough Council as a Property Lawyer, in which capacity she has access to the 

Council’s legal files and deed packets relating to the application land.

4.28. Mrs Smith set out the history of the Council’s acquisition of the application 

land. The application land was acquired in two parts.  Both parcels were 

acquired for the purpose of housing. The eastern part of the application land 

immediately to the rear of the blocks of flats and maisonettes was acquired in 

1962 together with the land on which the blocks were built and other land. The 

blocks were built by the end of 1965 and the area outside the blocks was left as 

amenity land for the use of Council tenants.   

4.29. The larger, western, part of the application site was acquired in 1972, together 

with other land. At the time the blocks of flats and maisonettes in Bybrook 

Road were built, it was farmland.  It was physically separated from the 

remainder of the application land by a field boundary.  Mrs Smith thought that 

it was likely that the fencing of the electricity sub-station followed the line of 

the field boundary.  This part of the application land did not, therefore, form 

part of the amenity land adjoining the blocks at the time they were built.  The 

houses to the south of Beecholme Drive, including Mardol Road, were built on 

the land acquired in 1972 in 1981. The houses to the north of Beecholme 

Drive, including Copperfield Close and Old Ash Close were built in 1985.  

4.30. Mrs Smith stated that the maintenance cost of the application land had always 

been met by the Housing Revenue Account, which meant that the maintenance 

of the land was paid for by tenants from their rent payments.  Over time, some 

of the properties had been sold under the right to buy, but the land had 

continued to be maintained and paid for by the Council as a benefit to the 

tenants, ex-tenants, and in some cases, private owners. 

21Page 28



4.31. Mrs Smith also produced aerial photographs of the application land dated 

2000, 2003, 2005/2006 and 2008.  The play area is not visible on the 2000 

photograph. In the 2003 photograph the play area has been constructed. In the 

2005/2006 photograph there is a parked vehicle on the application land at the 

rear of 160 Beecholme Drive. No people are visible on the land on any of the 

photographs.

4.32. Mrs Smith stated that the play area was constructed by the Council at some 

time between 2001 and 2003.  It was constructed in part on an area which had 

been surfaced for parking.  That part of the play area which was formerly part 

of the car park, she suggested, should not be registered as a village green, as it 

was previously used for parking cars. Furthermore, the play area is, and has 

always been, fenced off from the remainder of the application land. 

4.33. Mrs Smith referred to the definition of “open space” in section 20 of the Open 

Spaces Act 1906, and stated that whilst the land was originally purchased for 

the purpose of housing and intended as amenity land for Council tenants, it is 

the Council’s policy that any land adjoining a housing development becomes, 

by virtue of its use and occupation, open space within the definition in section 

20 of the 1906 Act.  Accordingly any disposal of small areas of such land is 

advertised within the local press, as required by section 123(2A) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, in order that the land can be freed from the statutory 

trust imposed by section 10 of the 1906 Act. She appended various 

advertisements which the Council had placed, together with plans showing the 

areas concerned, as examples of this policy being followed.  She said that the 

report to the Council’s Executive dated 18
th

 October 2007 further evidenced 

this point. 

4.34. Mrs Smith said that she did not believe that the application land was 

registrable under the Commons Act 2006 as a town or village green, as it is 

housing amenity land treated as public open space, and therefore is used by 

right.

4.35. In oral evidence I asked Mrs Smith about the Council’s policy and where 

evidence of that policy could be found.  She said that the policy is not a written 

policy.  There is no formal policy and no formal appropriation of such land to 

open space purposes. The Council advertises all disposals of land which is 

open space, whatever statutory power it is held under.  Housing amenity land 

is treated as being open space, so an advertisement is required.   

4.36. Mrs Smith produced a map showing the ward boundaries in the vicinity of the 

application land.  There are 1,989 registered electors on the electoral role in the 

Bybrook Ward. There are 1,824 registered electors in the Bockhanger Ward.  

4.37. In cross-examination it was put to Mrs Smith that the car park was not suitable 

for use before the play area was built, and therefore it was not correct to say 

that it would not have been possible to play there because there would be cars 

parked there. Mrs Smith said she would not have known about that.  

22Page 29



4.38. Mrs Smith was asked why it was necessary to apply to the Secretary of State 

under section 25.  She said that it was intended to provide assistance to a 

registered social landlord, by transferring the land at nil value, and because the 

land was a council asset, an application was necessary.  It was not to do with it 

being open space. 

Documentary evidence provided by the Objector

4.39. Mr Holloway and Mrs Smith appended a number of documents to their witness 

statements, some of which were mentioned during the course of oral evidence. 

I have re-read all of the objector’s documents, whether specifically mentioned 

in this report or not. 

4.40. The report to the Executive dated 18
th

 October 2007 concerning the proposed 

disposal of part of the application land recommended that the Executive should 

agreed the disposal of the land to Hyde Housing Association at nil 

consideration subject to: 

Obtaining the necessary consents under section 32 of the Housing Act 

and section 25 of the Local Government Act 1988 from the Secretary 

of State for disposal of housing land at less than market value; 

Consideration and resolution of any objections received under the 

Open Spaces Act 1906; 

The grant of planning permission; 

Such other terms and conditions as the Head of Legal and Democratic 

Services considers necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

4.41. The Officer report stated that the land the subject of the proposed disposal was 

“currently poor grade open space.  It is a grassed area, which Housing 

Managers report is regularly used for dumping rubbish and occasionally 

abandoned cars.” 

5. Members of the public

5.1. One member of the public attended the inquiry on Monday 22
nd

 February 

2010, and indicated that he wished to speak. 

Mr Ray Crompton

20 Copperfield Close 

5.2. Mr Crompton said that he moved into his present address in November 2008.  

The entrance to Copperfield Close is directly opposite the application site.

During the time he has lived at his present address he has exercised his dog at 

least twice a day. His routine entails him passing the land on every occasion. In 

addition he passes the site by car every time he leaves and returns to his home, 

which he does at least twice a day on average.  As a result he considers that he 

has been very aware of people on or using the application land over the past 

two years or so.  He has witnessed use of the land by children during the 

summer months only.  The land is not used for the rest of the year by the 

children for soccer or other activities, as it is unsuitable for use due to 

waterlogging.  The cold weather periods contribute to the unsuitability of the  

23Page 30



land for leisure use.  Mr Crompton said that he did not dispute that the land 

had been used during part of each of the past few years, but said that it had 

certainly not been used continuously throughout each of the past two years.

The land next to the library is used by the children when the application land is 

unsuitable.  Mr Crompton said that the site by the library is covered by CCTV. 

5.3. Mrs Boorman put to Mr Crompton that the CCTV is not moveable, and 

sometimes does not work. He said it does cover the football site, and it should 

be possible to see when children were playing there, and when they were 

playing there they would not be playing on the application land. 

5.4. Miss Foster did not wish to ask Mr Crompton any questions. 

5.5. Mr Crompton’s knowledge of the land post-dates the application, and therefore 

his evidence does not relate to the relevant period. 

6. Submissions on behalf of the Objector

6.1. Miss Foster submitted written opening submissions
27

. She submitted that the 

application land should not be registered as a town or village green because 

use of the land had not been as of right, but by right. The land is held as 

housing land and used by tenants and ex-tenants as amenity land.  It is 

maintained by the Council from the Housing Revenue Account, which is a 

ring-fenced account.  In this way the upkeep of the land is paid for from 

council housing rents.  The land is used with the Council’s permission, and the 

people using it have an entitlement to use it.  The Council treats its housing 

amenity land as public open space.  It is held both as open space and as 

amenity land, and in both cases is used by right.  She stated that the Council 

would submit detailed closing submissions on the law on this point. 

6.2. Miss Foster stated that the Council took no issue on most of the claimed uses 

of the land.  It did not accept that there had been an annual bonfire on the land: 

had it known of such an event it would have prevented it on safety grounds.  

The Council asserted that tenants had made specific requests of the Council for 

certain uses, which supported the Council’s claim that the land had been used 

by permission. The Council accepted that uses such as dog walking and 

children playing constituted lawful sports and pastimes in accordance with the 

Act.

6.3. In relation to the question of whether there was a significant number of 

inhabitants, Miss Foster submitted that the applicant was required to identify a 

group from a locality or localities, and to prove that there is a sufficiently 

cohesive entity (a distinct and identifiable community) from some legally 

recognised administrative division. Miss Foster stated that that application site 

falls into the two wards of Bybrook and Bockhanger, which at the last census 

had a combined population of 5,100.   She said that the Registration Authority 

had also found that the land is situated within the ecclesiastical parish of St 

Mary’s Kennington, but said that there was no evidence at all from 

27 O153 

24Page 31



parishioners.  She said that the Council would argue that the land was used 

overwhelmingly by Council tenants and ex-Council tenants, and that there is 

no locality or neighbourhood with any particular community.  The users are 

tenants and ex-tenants, not any particular community. 

6.4. Miss Foster said that the applicant had produced statements from four people 

who claimed to have used the land for more than 20 years.  She accepted that 

“significant” in the Act did not mean an absolute number, but submitted that 4 

people from a potential 5,100 in an urban area was not significant on any view. 

6.5. Miss Foster submitted that in the absence of those who signed the petition 

attending the inquiry and giving evidence, the petition should be given very 

little weight, as the evidence it contained was untested. 

6.6. Miss Foster submitted that the applicant must show that use was ongoing 20 

years back from the application, that is from before 15
th

 February 1988.  She 

submitted that there was only evidence from 4 people to support the whole 

period of claimed use.   

6.7. Miss Foster submitted that the application was clearly simply about stopping 

the proposed housing development on part of the application site.  She 

submitted that the potential implications for councils and other social housing 

providers across the country of losing housing amenity land to town and 

village greens were very serious.  Their ability to manage, change, modernise 

and improve housing land would be undermined.  

6.8. Miss Foster also provided a copy of a written Advice of Mr Philip Petchey of 

Counsel which she relied upon as setting out the legal argument in relation to 

her as of right point. Mr Petchey set out the factual background to the 

application: that the land is owned by the Council and held as housing land, 

and serves as amenity land for a development of low rise blocks. It is laid to 

grass and is available to those living nearby for recreation purposes.  There is a 

fenced off play area for children as part of the land. Maintenance is paid for 

out of the Housing Revenue Account. Mr Petchey stated that the short question 

on which he was asked to advise was whether, as a matter of law the land is 

registrable as a town or village green on the basis of 20 years use as of right

[his emphasis] for recreational purposes. Mr Petchey advised that there is 

support for the proposition that land held by local authorities as public open 

space under the Open Spaces Act 1906 or section 164 of the Public Health Act 

is not registrable as a town or village green in the speech of Lord Bingham in 

the Beresford case
28

.  He has always advised that such land is not registrable 

and has not come across the advice of any practioners in the field to the 

contrary. The position relating to land held under statutes other than the Open 

Spaces Act and the Public Health Act is, Mr Petchey advised, less 

straightforward. There is no clear authority from the courts.  Mr Petchey noted 

Lord Walker’s comments in Beresford in the context of an application to 

register land held as development land by a public authority but made available 

as public open space.  Lord Walker thought that the concept of a town or 

28 [2004] 1 AC 889 

25Page 32



village green had been stretched “close to, or even beyond, the limits which 

Parliament is likely to have intended”
29

.  Mr Petchey advised that in his 

opinion it was likely that a court would be hostile to arguments that land made 

available as public open space under appropriate powers is registrable as a 

town or village green.

6.9. Mr Petchey considered the position of land held under the Open Spaces Act, 

the Public Health Act and the section 4 of the Physical Training and 

Recreation Act 1937 and section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976.  In his opinion there is a distinction to be drawn between 

different categories of land held under section 4 of the Physical Training and 

Recreation Act 1937 and section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976: so the question is what is the actual purpose for which 

the land is held under the Act and for which it has been made available for use 

by local people, so that if, for instance, the land was provided as a municipal 

golf course for the use of which payment was required, use by local people for 

other lawful sports and pastimes would be as of right, but if the land was made 

available as a playing field and had been available for free and unrestricted use 

by members of the public, the use by local people would be by right, rather 

than as of right. He commented that he had not seen advice by counsel 

experienced in the law relating to town and village greens addressed to a 

registration authority to the effect that a playing field provided under section 4 

or section 19 which has been available for free and unrestricted use should be 

registered as a town or village green.  If such advice does exist, he would 

disagree with it. 

6.10.  Mr Petchey turned next to consider sections 12 and 13 of the Housing Act 

1985. He concluded that the power under section 13 was to lay out open space 

and not to lay out public open space.  Mr Petchey said that there is a difference 

between open space held under section 19 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which would be maintained out of the 

local authority’s general fund and intended for general recreational use on the 

one hand and open space held under the Housing Acts which would be 

maintained out of the ring-fenced housing revenue account and arguably 

available only to council tenants on the other. In his opinion if land is provided 

and maintained by a local authority as open space, intended for recreational 

use and paid for by Council tenants, then those Council tenants must have 

some kind of right to go onto that land, which in Mr Petchey’s opinion is not a 

weaker right than the right of citizens to use a municipal park.  He suggested 

that it may be a contractual right, for instance if the tenants’ tenancy 

agreements state that they have an entitlement to use amenity land.  He 

commented that, in the absence of a corresponding right to use the land, he 

could not see how the housing authority was entitled to charge in respect of 

maintaining such land. He said that although one might think that the matter 

was capable of resolution by a conclusion that, whatever the precise nature of 

the rights of the tenants, they could not be trespassers, and accordingly are 

licensees.  However this analysis would not be consistent with the Beresford

case: it is hard to think that the users of the open space in Beresford  were 

29 paragraph 92 of his speech. 

26Page 33



trespassers, and Lord Scott (who took a somewhat different approach to the 

other members of the Committee) was clear that they were not.
30

6.11. Mr Petchey said that in his opinion the difference between land laid out as a 

park under section 164 of the Public Health Act 1875 on the one hand and land 

laid out as a playing field under section 19 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or as recreational open space under 

section 12 of the Housing Act 1985 on the other is that the Public Health Act 

power makes provision only for land to be laid out as land which is available 

for general recreational use.  The Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act power and the Housing Act power make provision for land to 

be laid out for restricted recreational use (in the case of the 1976 Act) or for 

use which may not be recreational at all (in the case of the 1985 Act).  Mr 

Petchey said that, if in fact the land had been made available for general 

recreational use (or for use by housing tenants) this in his view was not a 

legally significant difference.

6.12. Mr Petchey said that two things needed to be noted.  Firstly, in Beresford, the 

House of Lords viewed the matters relied upon in that case as demonstrating 

the existence of an implied licence as being equivocal
31

.  In the context of this 

application the Council is not seeking to demonstrate an implied licence but 

something similar – that from the circumstances the land has been made 

available under the statute for recreational use.  Mr Petchey said that it would 

be open to the decision maker to decide as a matter of fact that he could not tell 

whether or not the land had been made available for recreational use.  He 

suggested that the resolutions and minutes of the local authority may be 

particularly pertinent in this context (such material would arguably not have 

been relevant in the context of the implied licence argument). 

6.13. Secondly, Mr Petchey observed that the land will have been used by the 

tenants of the local authority but also, no doubt, to some extent by others.  

Even though the tenants’ use was not as of right, the use by other people may 

have been.  He said that it may be that the extent of any such use is limited and 

therefore that no issue in fact arises, but non-tenant use does open up the 

debate.  He said that he would prefer to advise further in the light of an 

understanding of the facts. 

6.14. In conclusion Mr Petchey advised that land held under the Housing Acts and 

made available to tenants as recreational open space is not registrable as a 

town or village green subject to 

it being demonstrated in the light of all the facts that such land has

been made available to tenants as recreational open space; and 

consideration of use by non-tenants.

30 At paragraph 48 of his speech. 
31 paragraphs 7, 60 and 85 

27Page 34



6.15. Mr Petchey said that at root, the difficulties go back to the tensions in 

Beresford between the recognition that land may be made available pursuant to 

a statutory right and the apparent acceptance that qualifying use of land may 

not necessarily be by way of trespass. 

6.16. Miss Foster made oral closing submissions on behalf of the Objector.  She 

stated that the test to be applied was that set out in section 15(2) of the 

Commons Act 2006. The relevant period began on 15
th

 February 1988.  The 

land should not be registered for the following reasons.  Firstly, there is 

question as to whether it was used by right or as of right. Because the land is 

housing land and open space it is not registrable as a green.  The Council 

accepts that there has been no formal appropriation of the land to open space 

purposes.  However it is the policy of the council to assume that housing 

amenity land is open space for the purposes of advertisement under section 

123A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

6.17. Secondly, the land is housing amenity land.  Councils have a power to provide 

amenity land under the Housing Acts. It is intended to be used by tenants.  Mr 

Clarke and Mr Crompton were the only witnesses who were not council 

tenants or ex-council tenants.  Mrs Goodwin, although now a private owner of 

a privately developed house, was formerly a council tenant of a council 

property.  The land is maintained with money from the housing revenue 

account. This gives the council the right to demand the money and the tenants 

to use the land. The council tenants’ rent is paid into the same account as the 

money to maintain it comes out of. Miss Foster accepted that this point did not 

deal with everyone.  It does not deal with the private owners who use the land 

and have no right to do so.  It does not deal with the right to buy owners who 

use the land, because they do not have a right pursuant to their leases to use the 

land.

6.18. Thirdly there is the permission point:  the tenants asked for permission to hold 

a demonstration and to put a MUGA on the land.  There is significant 

consultation with the tenants as to what happens to the land.  All of that 

evidence shows the link between the tenants and their right to use the land.   I 

asked Miss Foster how, if the tenants had a right to use the land, the council 

was entitled to take away that right by building on part of the land. She said 

that it was not a legal right, but was an entitlement of sorts.  

6.19. The Council does not dispute the sorts of activities that the witnesses have said 

take place on the land take place, and that those activities are lawful sports and 

pastimes, although the Council suggests that it is a low level use, partly as a 

result of the evidence, and also by implication from the number of people 

there.  There was evidence that the older children used the area next to the 

library: people in this area did use other play areas in the vicinity. 

6.20. On the question of locality, the locality is the Bockhanger and Bybrook Ward, 

with over 3800 registered electors (not population).  The Council accepts that 

the wards are a locality, but says that the evidence that is legally significant 

comes from only 3 people.  Mrs Boorman has given evidence of use for 20 

years plus, Mrs Ledner, 20 years, Mrs Ledman 15 years, Mrs Goodwin put 16  

28Page 35



years on her evidence questionnaire, but claimed 36 years from living further 

away from the site. Miss Foster submitted I should only take into account the 

16 years stated by Mrs Goodwin on her evidence questionnaire.  Mrs Evans 

gave evidence of 8 years’ use.  Mr Clark lives outside the neighbourhood, and 

does not use the site himself. Miss Foster said I should not take into account 

the written evidence in support of the application. I should not give it any 

weight.  The purpose of the hearing is to hear the evidence and test it. The 

evidence of those who did not attend the inquiry has not been tested.  The 

direct oral evidence of only three people should be regarded as insufficient: 

three people is not a significant number.  

6.21. The application is clearly about stopping the proposed housing development.  

Some of the evidence has been about planning matters, and I should not take 

that into account.

6.22. Miss Foster submitted in conclusion that the applicant had not made out her 

case for registration and that I should recommend against registration.   

7. Closing submissions on behalf of the Applicant

7.1. Mrs Boorman made oral closing submissions in support of the application.  

She stated that the reason people asked for permission for items to be on the 

land is out of courtesy to the council, and not by way of application to the 

housing department. 

7.2. Development will only increase the number of children needing somewhere to 

play, in an area where the council has agreed that the area is an area of 

deprivation with regard to open space provision.  No-one has ever complained 

about people walking across the land to the shops or community centre. All 

wish to see the open space continue.  The area is one where people move on, 

especially young people who have used the area over the last 20 or more years.  

They are not able to attend.  There are 16 witnesses altogether, not all of whom 

have been able to attend, and over 300 who signed a petition in support of the 

application (some of whom signed forms or letters as well). Mrs Boorman said 

that not everyone who objects to a planning application turns up at the hearing, 

but their views are still counted, and asked me to take the views of witnesses 

who had given written evidence only into account. 

8. The Law

8.1. The application is made under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006. The 

Commons Act 2006 received Royal Assent on 19
th

 July 2006.  Section 15 of 

the Act was brought into force on 6
th

 April 2007 by the Commons Act 

(Commencement No. 2, Transitional Provisions and Savings) (England) Order 

2007
32

.  Section 15 provides (as relevant): 

32
 SI 456/2007 

29Page 36



“(1)     Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to 

register land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a 

case where subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

(2)     This subsection applies where— 

(a)     a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b)     they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 … 

 (6)     In determining the period of 20 years referred to in subsections 

(2)(a), (3)(a) and (4)(a), there is to be disregarded any period during 

which access to the land was prohibited to members of the public by 

reason of any enactment. 

(7)     For the purposes of subsection (2)(b) in a case where the 

condition in subsection (2)(a) is satisfied— 

(a)     where persons indulge as of right in lawful sports and pastimes 

immediately before access to the land is prohibited as specified in 

subsection (6), those persons are to be regarded as continuing so to 

indulge; and 

(b)     where permission is granted in respect of use of the land for the 

purposes of lawful sports and pastimes, the permission is to be 

disregarded in determining whether persons continue to indulge in 

lawful sports and pastimes on the land “as of right”.” 

8.2. Many of the words and phrases used in section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 

are identical to the words and phrases used in its predecessor, section 22 of the 

Commons Registration Act 1965.  The decided cases on what those words 

meant in the 1965 Act remain authoritative when considering the meaning of 

the same words in the 2006 Act.  

A significant number of the inhabitants …

8.3. “Significant” does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that 

the number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate 

that their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local 

community for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals 

as trespassers33.

… of any locality……

8.4. A “locality” cannot be created by drawing a line on a map34. A “locality” must 

be some division of the county known to the law, such as a borough, parish or 

33 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire CC [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin) at para. 77 
34 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Glos, DC [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at paras 41-48 

30Page 37



manor35. An ecclesiastical parish can be a “locality”36 but it is doubtful whether 

an electoral ward can be a “locality”37.

...or of any neighbourhood within a locality…

8.5. A “neighbourhood” need not be a recognised administrative unit. A housing 

estate can be a neighbourhood38. A neighbourhood need not lie wholly within a 

single locality39.  It was said in R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South 

Gloucestershire County Council
40

 that a neighbourhood cannot be any area 

drawn on a map: it must have some degree of cohesiveness41:

“a neighbourhood need not be a recognised administrative unit.  A 

housing estate might well be described in ordinary language as a 

locality… I do not accept the Defendant’s submission that a 

neighbourhood is any area of land that an applicant for registration 

chooses to delineate upon a plan. The registration authority have to be 

satisfied that the area alleged to be a neighbourhood has a sufficient 

degree of cohesiveness; otherwise, the word “neighbourhood” would 

be stripped of any real meaning.  If parliament had wished to enable 

the inhabitants of any area (as defined on a plan accompanying the 

application) to apply to register land as a village green, it would have 

said so.”

8.6. In my judgment there must also be some degree of fit between the claimed 

locality or neighbourhood, and the users of the application land.

…have indulged as of right… 

8.7. Use of land “as of right” means use without force, stealth or permission (“nec

vi, nec clam, nec precario”) and does not turn on the subjective beliefs of 

users42.  User “as of right” must be use as a trespasser and not use pursuant to a 

legal right43.

8.8. In the case of R v. City of Sunderland ex part Beresford
44

, the House of Lords 

considered the meaning of the phrase “as of right”.  It was accepted that the 

words “as of right” imported the absence of any of the three characteristics of 

compulsion, secrecy or licence – nec vi, nec claim, nec precario.
45

  The appeal 

turned on the question of whether the inhabitants’ use of the land had been by 

35 Ministry of Defence v Wiltshire CC [1995] 4 All ER 931 at p 937b-e, R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v 

South Glos. DC at paras 72-84 and see R (Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire CC [2003] 3 EGLR 

69 at para. 133 
36 R (Laing Homes) Ltd v Buckinghamshire CC  
37 R (Laing Homes) Ltd v Buckinghamshire CC  
38 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire CC 
39 Oxfordshire County Council v. Oxford City Council (“the Trap Grounds case”) [2006] UKHL  25, 

para. 27 disapproving  R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Glos. CC at para. 88 
40 [2004] 1 EGLR 85 
41 at para 85 
42 R v Oxfordshire CC ex p Sunningwell PC  
43 R (Beresford) v Sunderland CC  paras 3, 9 & 30 
44 Ibid. 
45 Para 16, taken from the headnote in Jones v. Bates [1938] 2 All ER 237, and described by Lord 

Hoffman in R v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335, as 

summarising the holding on this point in entirely orthodox terms. 

31Page 38



virtue of the implied licence of the council.  The parties were invited to make 

written submissions on the question of whether the inhabitants had indulged in 

lawful sports and pastimes for the qualifying period of 20 years not “as of 

right” but pursuant to a statutory right to do so.
46

  In my judgment, it can be 

inferred from the fact that the House of Lords invited submissions on the point, 

that, where it is established that the local inhabitants do enjoy a statutory right 

to use the land for lawful sports and pastimes, this will preclude a finding that 

their user has been use “as of right”, so the statutory test for registration as a 

town or village green will not capable of being satisfied in relation to that land. 

8.9. On the facts in Beresford, the House of Lords was not satisfied that any 

statutory right existed which conferred on the local inhabitants a legal right to 

use the land for indulgence in lawful sports and pastimes.
47

  Counsel for the 

council disclaimed reliance on section 21 of the New Towns Act 1981 and the 

question of whether that section might confer a statutory right was not 

therefore open for determination by the House of Lords, although it appears 

that Lord Scott, at least, had the point been argued, might have been persuaded 

that that section did confer such a right.
48

8.10. It was accepted by both parties that, had the council acquired the application 

land under the Open Spaces Act 1906, the local inhabitants’ use of the land for 

recreation would have been use under the trust imposed by section 10 of the 

Act. The use would have been subject to regulation by the council and would 

not have been a use “as of right” for the purposes of class c of section 22(1) of 

the Commons Registration Act 1965.
49

8.11. Counsel for the council accepted that the appellant applicant was correct in 

contending on the facts that the application land had not been acquired under 

the Open Spaces Act 1906, and that therefore section 10 did not apply.  The 

question of whether the land had been acquired under the Open Spaces Act 

1906 was therefore not open for decision by the House of Lords
50

. However, it 

appears that, had it been, Lord Scott (at least) might have been persuaded that 

it was not necessary in order to prove that land had been acquired under the 

Act for reference to the Act itself to be expressly stated either in the deed of 

transfer or in some council minute relating to the acquisition. Lord Scott 

commented:

“Attorney-General v Poole Corporation [1938] Ch 23 is interesting on 

this point. The open space land in question had been conveyed to Poole 

Corporation:

‘in fee simple to the intent that the same may for ever hereafter 

be preserved and used as a pleasure or recreation ground for the 

public use.’ 

46 Para 9. 
47 Ibid. 
48 Para 26. 
49 Para 30. 
50 Ibid and paragraph 88. 

32Page 39



“There was no express reference in the conveyance to the 1906 Act, 

but the Court of Appeal thought it plain that the Act applied. Indeed, 

counsel on both sides argued the case on the footing that that was so: 

see Sir Wilfrid Greene MR, at p30. It seems to me, therefore, that the 

1906 Act should not have been set to one side in the present case 

simply on the ground that in the documents relating to the transfer to 

the council no express reference to the 1906 Act can be found. It would 

be, in my view, an arguable proposition that if the current use of land 

acquired by a local authority were use for the purposes of recreation, 

and if the land had not been purchased for some other inconsistent use 

and the local authority had had the intention that the land should 

continue to be used for the purposes of recreation, the provisions of 

section 10 would apply: cf counsel's argument in Poole Corporation, at 

p27.”

8.12. Lord Scott in paragraph 52 of his speech stated that although the point had not 

been argued before the House of Lords, he thought that there were strong 

arguments for contending that where “open space” land was within the 

ownership of a principal council, even if the Open Spaces Act 1906 was not 

applicable, the statutory scheme under the Local Government Act 1972 

excluded the operation of section 22(1) of the Commons Registration Act 

1965:

“For these reasons, I would, on the basis upon which the case has been 

argued before your lordships, allow the appeal. I am, however, for 

reasons that will have appeared, uneasy about this conclusion. Where 

open space land comes into the ownership of a "principal council", I 

think there are strong arguments for contending that the statutory 

scheme under the Local Government Act 1972, whether or not the 

Open Spaces Act 1906 or section 21(1) of the New Towns Act 1981 

are applicable, excludes the operation of section 22(1) of the Commons 

Registration Act 1965. But these arguments have not been addressed to 

your lordships. I think also, as at present advised, that the power of 

disposal of open space land given to principal councils by section 123 

of the 1972 Act will trump any town or village green status of the land 

whether or not it is registered. But this, too, if the council wish to take 

the point, must be decided on another occasion.” 

8.13. None of the other Law Lords expressed an opinion on these points.  Lord 

Bingham gave his own reasons, and stated that he agreed with Lords Scott, 

Rodger and Walker. Lord Hutton agreed with Lords Walker, Bingham and 

Rodger. Lord Rodger gave his own reasons and agreed with Lords Bingham 

and Walker.  Lord Walker gave his own reasons and agreed with Lords 

Bingham and Rodger.   

… in lawful sports and pastimes…

8.14. The words “lawful sports and pastimes” form a composite expression which 

includes informal recreation such as walking, with or without dogs, and

33Page 40



children’s play51. It does not include walking of such a character as would give 

rise to a presumption of dedication as a public right of way52.

…on the land…

8.15. Section 5 defines the land to which Part I of the Commons Act 2006 applies: 

all land in England and Wales, subject to exceptions, none of which is relevant 

here.  “Land” is further defined by section 61 as including land covered by 

water.

…for a period of at least 20 years and they continue to do so at the time of 

the application. 

8.16. It was held in the Trap Grounds case
53

 that the relevant 20 year period under 

section 22(1)(a) was the 20 years immediately before the date of the 

application (not the date of registration). The relevant 20 year period in 

relation to this application is therefore 14
th

 March 1988 to 13
th

 March 2008. 

Procedure

8.17. Kent County Council is a pilot authority, and the procedure on applications to 

register new greens in Kent has therefore since 1
st
 October 2008 been governed 

by The Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008. 

9. The Land

9.1. The land the subject of the application must be defined with sufficient certainty 

for the Registration Authority to be able to ascertain the land to which the 

application relates. 

9.2. The line on the application plan around the application land was not complete, 

in that its two ends did not meet.  The plan provided pursuant to my directions 

was on a map at scale 1:10,000, and, having regard to the size of the 

application land, was not sufficiently accurate.  At the outset of the inquiry I 

asked Mrs Boorman to colour in red the land which she intended to be the 

subject of the application, on the map at A11. The area she coloured included 

the children’s playground and part of the grassed area to the rear of 164-168 

and 186-190 Bybrook Road, and excluded the electricity sub-station. 

9.3. It was common ground at the inquiry that the application to have the land 

registered as a town or village green had been prompted by the Council’s 

proposal to dispose of part of the application land (that part fronting 

Beecholme Drive) to Hyde Housing Association, subject to planning, to enable 

the development of 19 environmentally sustainable homes. The area the 

subject of the proposed disposal was 0.47 acres in area. Perhaps inevitably as a 

51 R v Oxfordshire CC ex p. Sunningwell PC [2000] 1 AC 335 at pp 356F-357E 
52 Oxfordshire CC v Oxford CC [2004] Ch 253 at paras 96-105  
53 [2006] UKHL 25, [2006] 2 AC 674, at para 44.  

34Page 41



result, some of the evidence at the inquiry related to the merits of this proposal.  

The desirability or undesirability of the development scheme is not relevant to 

the outcome of this application. 

9.4. I visited the site unaccompanied on a number of occasions before and during 

the inquiry. I asked the parties whether they wished me to carry out an 

accompanied site visit at the end of the inquiry.  They did not.  I asked the 

parties whether there were any particular features they wished me to note. 

There were none. 

9.5. The application land was acquired by Ashford Borough Council’s statutory 

predecessor in two separate parcels, and is held under two title numbers.  The 

area immediately behind the blocks was acquired by a Conveyance dated 17
th

August 1962 and made between (1) The Grosvenor (Ashford) Limited and (2) 

the Urban District Council of Ashford
54

. That area is registered under Title 

Number K163751
55

.  The area fronting onto Beecholme Drive was acquired by 

a Conveyance dated 16
th

 February 1972 and made between (1) Trinity College 

Cambridge and (2) the Urban District Council of Ashford.  That area is 

registered under Title Number K375322
56

.

9.6. The 1962 Conveyance is silent as to the powers under which the Council 

acquired the land conveyed.  The 1972 conveyance recites that the conveyance 

was pursuant to the Housing Act 1957.  The Council accepted at the inquiry 

and asserted in its objection letter that it holds the land under its housing 

powers.

9.7. The application land is a relatively small grassed area to the rear of two blocks 

of flats and maisonettes on Bybrook Road, numbers 164-184 and numbers 

186-206, of roughly a boomerang shape.  Although the application states that 

the area is 0.47 acres, in fact this is the area of the part of the land of which the 

Council proposed to dispose.  The whole of the application land is somewhat 

larger, but is probably less than one acre in area.

9.8. The north-western boundary of the application land is formed by the pavement 

to Beecholme Drive, and its north-eastern boundary by the pavement to the 

Grasmere Road. There are short wooden posts around these sides of the 

application site to prevent vehicles driving onto it.  Its south-western boundary 

is formed in part by the side wall and side boundary fence of 3 Beecholme 

Drive, and in part by the rear fences of numbers 160-150 Beechome Drive.  In 

the south eastern corner of the land there is an equipped play area, and the 

southern boundary is formed in part by the fencing around the play area. That 

line is extended to form the remainder of the southern boundary from the end 

of the fencing to the rear fence of number 150.  The eastern boundary is 

formed at the southern end by the eastern boundary of the play area, then by a 

line going from the north eastern corner of the play area, around the tree (and 

including the tree within the application land) to the eastern corner of the 

fencing of an electricity sub-station, along the fencing of the electricity sub-

54 O112 
55 O121 
56 O129 

35Page 42



station, and then from the northern corner of the fencing of the electricity sub-

station along the rear boundary of the parking area across the grassed area, but 

excluding the two large trees to the rear of 186-206 Bybrook Road, to meet the 

pavement of Grasmere Road.  There is a stand of trees to the north of the 

electricity sub-station and two or three other individual trees further north than 

the stand of trees. There are no other significant trees or shrubs on the 

application land. 

9.9. The play area has a fence around it, with an open gap at its north eastern corner 

to allow access. There is a sign on the fence which reads: 

   “Welcome to Bybrook Road Play Area 

This play area is intended for use by children up to the age of 12. 

All children should be accompanied by an adult whilst using this 

play area. 

In the event of an accident, or to report damage or a hazard, please 

telephone:-…..

Please use this play area without causing a nuisance and with 

respect for the equipment.” 

9.10. At the bottom of the sign are three symbols, red circles with a line through 

them, showing a picture of a dog, a person depositing litter and a cyclist and 

rollerskater respectively. 

9.11. The Council produced no evidence as to how long this sign had been present 

and did not seek to say that it had regulated use of the play area through the 

presence of the sign, so as to make use of that area permissive. 

9.12. There is a sign on the side wall of 1 Beecholme Drive, facing onto the 

application site which reads “NO BALL GAMES By order of ASHFORD 

BOROUGH COUNCIL”.  The Council produced no evidence about this sign 

at all.  There is no evidence from which I can reach a conclusion as to how 

long this sign had been in place. The Council did not seek to say that it had 

regulated use of the land through the presence of the sign on a wall facing the 

land.

9.13. I am satisfied that the land is sufficiently defined to constitute land for the 

purposes of the 2006 Act.  I append a copy of the applicant’s plan to this 

Report.

10. The claimed locality and neighbourhood within a locality

10.1. The neighbourhood or locality claimed in the application form was Bybrook 

Ward and Bockhanger.  By my directions I required the applicant to include in 

the bundle she produced for the inquiry a map on which were identified the 

locality and any neighbourhood within a locality on which she relied.  In 

response, the applicant provided a map
57

 on which the following roads (or 

parts of them) were coloured red: Rectory Way, Mardol Road, Beecholme 

57 A13 

36Page 43



Drive, Old Ash Close, Bockhanger Lane, Copperfield Close, Bybrook Road, 

Grasmere Road, Briar Close, Larch Walk, Belmont Road. An area to the east 

of Bybrook Road and to the south of Belmont Road was enclosed within a red 

line.  An area to the south of Beecholme Drive, the east of Rectory Way and 

the west of Nine Acres was enclosed within another red line. A line was also 

drawn to the north west of Bybrook Road and the south of Crofton Close, to 

approximately the same level as the line running to the north along Bybrook 

Road, but these two lines were not joined.  The applicant also produced a map 

with 17 green dots on it
58

, described in the index to her bundle as showing 

where people live. 

Locality

10.2. At the outset of the inquiry, I asked the applicant to define the locality to which 

her application related.  She stated that the application land falls within the 

Bockhanger Ward, and that that was the locality upon which she relied.  Ms 

Foster for Ashford Borough Council indicated that she would wish to check 

factually whether it was correct that the land fell within Bockhanger Ward, but 

subject to that point, that she would not seek to argue that an electoral ward 

was not a locality within the statute. During the course of the inquiry the 

Council helpfully produced a map showing the ward boundaries in the vicinity 

of the application land.  The application land falls wholly within Bybrook 

ward, but is right on the western edge of that ward.  The claimed 

neighbourhood falls partly within Bybrook ward and partly within Bockhanger 

ward.  The applicant stated, following receipt of the map, that the claimed 

locality was Bybrook ward and Bockhanger ward. 

10.3. I recommend that the Registration Authority should accept the applicant’s case 

that the qualifying locality to which this application relates is the electoral 

wards of Bybrook and Bockhanger. 

Neighbourhood

10.4. At the outset of the inquiry I asked the applicant to clarify the neighbourhood 

to which her application related by colouring the area she defined as the 

neighbourhood on a copy of A13.  She said that the area was known as 

Bockhanger. The Objector did not challenge the applicant’s evidence that this 

area was a neighbourhood during the course of the inquiry, for instance by 

cross-examining the applicant’s witnesses on this point, or by providing 

evidence of its own as to whether or not the claimed neighbourhood was in fact 

a neighbourhood.

10.5. The claimed neighbourhood includes the properties comprising the council 

development along Bybrook Road on the land acquired by the 1962 

Conveyance and the properties comprising the council development along 

Beecholme Drive and Mardol Road on the land acquired by the 1972 

Conveyance. The plan appended to Mr Holloway’s statement showing the 

chronology of Council housing stock and land development
59

 suggests that the 

area acquired by the 1972 Conveyance was developed in two parts: the 

58 A14 
59 O35 

37Page 44



bungalows on Beecholme Drive in 1975, and the remainder of the land 

acquired by the 1972 Conveyance in 1981, together with Gerlach House and 

the properties on Rectory Way. Gerlach House and the properties on Rectory 

Way were not included within the claimed neighbourhood. However it appears 

likely from an examination of the Ordnance Survey base map used for the Title 

plans for the land acquired by the 1962
60

 and 1972
61

 Conveyances, contrary to 

the evidence contained in Mr Holloway’s plan, that Beecholme Drive and 

Mardol Road were developed before Rectory Way.  The properties on 

Beecholme Drive and Mardol Road are shown as complete on the Title plan, 

whereas Rectory Way is not shown.  Further the Title plan shows that 

Beecholme Drive had not, at the time the survey underlying the base map was 

carried out, been extended beyond the turning head at the junction with Mardol 

Road. The objector did not challenge the applicant to explain why Gerlach 

House and the properties on Rectory Way were not included in the claimed 

neighbourhood, but it may be that this provides some explanation as to why the 

applicant did not feel that those properties were integrated into the claimed 

neighbourhood.

10.6. The other area of council housing which was not included within the claimed 

neighbourhood was the properties on Nine Acres.  The plan appended to Mr 

Holloway’s statement showing the chronology of Council housing stock and 

land development
62

 suggested that these properties were developed in 1965. In 

his statement he stated that the Nine Acres development was built in tandem 

with the Bybrook Road development.  Again, the applicant was not challenged 

as to why these properties were not included.  The Nine Acres development 

runs along pair of cul de sacs off Bybrook Road.  It has a separate feel. It may 

be that this is the reason that the Applicant has not included the properties in 

Nine Acres in the claimed neighbourhood. 

10.7. The area identified by the applicant also includes the properties comprising the 

council development on land to the north west of the land acquired by the 1972 

Conveyance along Old Ash Close and Copperfield Close.  The plan appended 

to Mr Holloway’s statement showing the chronology of Council housing stock 

and land development
63

 suggests that this area was developed in 1985. 

10.8. The claimed neighbourhood also includes various properties to the north of the 

Old Ash Close and Copperfield Close development, including the following 

named properties, all of which appear to be accessed off Bockhanger Lane:  

Twin Oaks, Rivendell, Red House, The White House, The Cottage, Ashlea 

House and Forstal House, and the properties on the south side of Riding Hill, a 

private housing development (numbers 5-10 inclusive).  It is not immediately 

obvious that these properties would form part of the same neighbourhood as 

the council and ex-council housing.  The objector did not challenge the 

applicant to explain why these properties were included within the claimed 

neighbourhood. Having regard to the map at A14 showing the addresses of the 

applicant’s witnesses, I think that it is possible that these properties were 

60 O121 
61 O129 
62 O35 
63 O35 

38Page 45



included because the applicant wished to include Mrs Goodwin’s house in the 

claimed neighbourhood.  However, as the applicant was not asked about this I 

have not had the opportunity to hear her response and therefore cannot form a 

conclusion one way or another.

10.9. I recommend that the Registration Authority should accept the applicant’s 

unchallenged assertion that the area she identified on A13 is a qualifying 

neighbourhood. I append a copy of that map to this Report. 

11. Evidence of use

Use of the site

11.1. There was a substantial amount of evidence to support the applicant’s claim 

that the application land was well used by local inhabitants for recreation. 

Three unrelated witnesses including the applicant gave oral evidence that they 

and their families had used the land and seen others using it for the whole of 

the relevant 20 year period (Boorman, Lednor, Morrison).  Two unrelated 

witnesses gave oral evidence that they had used the land with their families for 

part of the relevant period, since respectively 2002 (Evans) and at least 1996 

(Goodwin) and seen others using it for that period.  Of the witnesses that gave 

oral evidence of their own use, 4 were Council tenants, and one lived in a 

house on a private development.  All lived within the claimed neighbourhood.  

Two further witnesses gave oral evidence that they had seen the land being 

used by local residents for the whole of the relevant period (Clark and Tweed).  

11.2. The oral evidence was supported by written evidence submitted on behalf of 

the applicant. Three witnesses claimed to have used the application land 

themselves for the whole of the relevant period (P Colvin, Hoover, Pearce).  

Four others claimed to have used the application land for a period in excess of 

10 years (D Colvin, Lacey, Peswani, Rolf). One other witness had used the 

land since 2004 (Oram).  All of those witnesses lived within the claimed 

neighbourhood.  The Title plans
64

 provided by the Council only relate to part 

of its landholding in the area. In the case of the plan relating to Title number 

K163751, the legend at the top shows that it was produced on 12
th

 August 

2008 and shows the state of the title plan on that date. It is therefore not up to 

date.  The plan relating to Title number K375322 does not have a date on it, 

and I do not know how recent an edition it is.  The Title plans do show some 

properties which have been removed from the title, presumably under the right 

to buy scheme.  From the Title plans provided, it is apparent that Mr and Mrs 

Hoover’s property is now privately owned.  The following witnesses who gave 

written evidence only of their own use live in properties which are council 

owned or formerly council owned, but which were still owned by the Council 

when the Title plans were produced: Oram, Peswani, Relf.  The following 

witnesses live in properties which are either Council owned or ex-Council 

owned, but which are not on either of the Title plans produced: Colvin (x2), 

Pearce.  Mr Lacey lives in a house which was privately developed but which is 

within the claimed neighbourhood. 

64 O121 and O129 

39Page 46



11.3. In my judgment the petition is of very little evidential value on the issues 

which have to be resolved in order for this application to be determined, 

because it asks individuals to sign up to a multi-part composite statement 

without giving them the opportunity to amend any part of it.  However, I do 

consider that a signature on the petition can properly be regarded as a general 

expression of support for the application, and that the number of signatures on 

the petition provides a degree of support to the other evidence before the 

inquiry of use to the effect that the application land was in general use by the 

local community for recreation for the relevant period. 

11.4. The objector relied on the statement of the author of the document headed 

“Ashford Housing Contextual Information Beecholme Drive – Green space”
65

:

“There is very little activity on [the application land].  The youth in the 

area prefer the area around the library where the games equipment has 

been provided.  The area does get boggy and unless it is mid to late 

spring to summer and ground conditions are dry, activity across the site 

is pedestrian traffic crossing from Beecholme Drive to Bybrook Road 

(note around the library the ground is more compacted and the area 

drains better – making it more of an all weather surface. Staff who have 

worked for the Housing Department for many years can only recall 

seeing ball games being played a couple of times.  Please note that, 

although people walk across the site, there are not established dirt 

tracks.” 

11.5. There was little other evidence from the objector to support this contention.

Mr Holloway commented that the poor drainage of the site which leads to the 

site becoming waterlogged in the autumn and winter made the claim about 

sports being played on the land surprising, but did not give any evidence as to 

his own personal observations of the site.  The objector did not call any of its 

longstanding Housing Department staff to give evidence at the inquiry.

11.6. Some challenge was made to the evidence of the applicant’s witnesses as to 

use, in that some of the witnesses were asked about the other areas available 

for recreation in the vicinity, but all the applicant’s witnesses remained firm in 

their evidence that the land was well-used.  

11.7. As a matter of commonsense a flat grassed area such as the application land in 

the middle of a housing estate is likely to be used by the children and youths 

from that estate for recreation, at least in the summer months.  The play area 

installed on the site is likely to attract younger users and their carers.  In these 

respects the applicant’s evidence of use seemed entirely probable.  There was 

no suggestion that the nature of the area had changed over the relevant period.

Although there was less evidence of use at the beginning of the period than in 

the later part of the period, in my judgment this is to be expected, and there 

was sufficient evidence to conclude on the balance of probabilities that the 

land was in use in the same way throughout the whole of the relevant period.

65 A113 and O24 

40Page 47



Is the number of users “significant” within the meaning of the statute?

11.8. In my judgment despite the small number of witnesses who came to the 

inquiry to give oral evidence in support of the application, there was evidence 

of use by a sufficient number of unrelated individuals to indicate to the 

Council that its land was in use generally by local inhabitants for informal 

recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers. I 

recommend that the Registration Authority should find that there is evidence 

of use by a significant number of local residents, as required by section 15 of 

the 2006 Act. 

Dumping of rubbish on the application land

11.9. There was little evidence before the inquiry to support the statement contained 

in Ms Lonsdale’s report to the Executive dated 18
th

 October 2007
66

 that 

Housing Managers reported that the land which the Council proposed to 

dispose of (part of the application land) was regularly used for dumping 

rubbish and occasionally abandoned cars. Several witnesses on behalf of the 

applicant expressed surprise at this statement, and said that it did not accord 

with their knowledge of the application land.  Neither the author of the report 

nor the Housing Managers referred to in the report attended the inquiry to give 

evidence, so the applicant was unable to test this statement by cross-

examination. The evidence of the applicant’s witnesses was that the rubbish 

dumping and abandoned vehicles tended to be in the immediate vicinity of the 

blocks.  The document sent with the objection letter and headed “Ashford 

Housing Contextual Information Beecholme Drive – Green space”
67

, which 

appeared to have been provided by the applicant’s housing department, 

supported the applicant’s witnesses’ evidence that it was the area around the 

residential blocks and the spaces in between which were the problem. 

11.10. In any event as it was not suggested to the applicant’s witnesses that the land 

was rendered unsuitable for use by local residents as a result of the dumping of  

rubbish and abandoned cars on it, or that residents were unlikely to use the 

land because of the rubbish on it, it does not seem to me that the question of 

whether or not the land was regularly used for dumping rubbish and 

occasionally abandoned cars is relevant to the issues which the Registration 

Authority has to determine. 

12. Use as of right?

Rights of the Council tenants to use the land

12.1. Miss Foster confirmed, on instructions, that the Council tenants of the 

properties in the vicinity of the application land do not have a right in their 

tenancy agreement to use the application land as amenity land. Similarly, 

where former Council properties have been purchased under the Right to Buy 

scheme, the leases of the flats and transfers of the houses do not contain any 

right to use the application land as amenity land. 

66 A106 
67 A113 and O24 

41Page 48



12.2. In my judgment the fact that council rents are paid into the same account from 

which the maintenance of the land is funded does not give rise to any implied 

right in the tenants to use the land. I asked whether the rents paid by the 

tenants of for instance the flats and maisonettes in the blocks are held 

separately and the funding for the maintenance of the land taken from those 

monies, or whether the rents paid into the Account by those tenants could fund 

the maintenance of any piece of amenity land on a Council owned housing 

estate. Mrs Kerly confirmed, through Miss Foster, that the Council does not 

hold the payments from different groups of tenants separately, so the rents paid 

by the tenants of the Bybrook Road blocks could be funding the improvement 

or maintenance of land on the Stanhope estate. Logically therefore if such a 

right did exist by reason of the ring-fencing of the Housing Revenue Account, 

it would be a right for all Ashford Borough Council’s tenants to recreate on 

any land owned by Ashford for the purposes of housing and used as housing 

amenity land.   

12.3. In my judgment Mr Petchey’s comment that in the absence of a right in the 

Council’s tenants to use the open space laid out under the power in section 13, 

he could not see how the housing authority was entitled to charge in respect of 

maintaining the land is erroneous:  the Council’s Housing Revenue Account 

pays for the services that tenants receive but also covers other items such as the 

cost of borrowing for the original build of the council's properties and for 

building improvements, and, as confirmed by Mrs Kerly, in the instance of 

Ashford Borough Council, the cost of investigating whether it would be 

beneficial to merge the landlord service with other neighbouring local 

authorities
68

. Further, the Housing Revenue Account pays for all open space, 

whether designed or used for recreation or not.

12.4. Finally on the facts of this case, it is clear that the larger western part of the 

application land was not made available for recreational use by the Council 

when the blocks on Bybrook Road were built, as it was not at that time owned 

by the Council.  There was no evidence, in the form of resolutions or minutes 

of the authority, that the Council had decided to make the whole of the 

application land available for recreational use, and if so, to whom. 

12.5. Even if I am wrong in my conclusion that the ring-fencing of Council rental 

income in the Housing Revenue Account alone cannot give rise to an inference 

that the Council’s tenants have an implied licence to use the application land, 

there was evidence of use of the application land by others who were not 

Council tenants.  There was no evidence that the Council took any steps to 

restrict the use of the land to those who were Council tenants, and to exclude 

those who lived in properties which were formerly Council-owned or those 

who lived on the private estate adjacent to the application land (by contrast, for 

instance, with the notices which seek to control parking in the parking spaces 

adjacent to the blocks on Bybrook Road by limiting the permission to park to 

residents only).  Miss Foster accepted that if I were to accept her argument that 

68http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/HomeAndCommunity/SocialHousingAndCareHomes/CouncilRentAnd

OtherCharges/DG_10029760

42Page 49



the Council tenants had an implied licence to use the land, it dealt only with 

those users who were Council tenants and not with other users.   

Was the land held on a statutory trust under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 

1906?

12.6. The fact that the Council (as do many local authorities) has a practice that 

where it is proposing to dispose of open space land it advertises that proposed 

disposal in accordance with section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 

1972 does not mean that the land the subject of the proposed disposal and 

advertisement is necessarily held for open space purposes or that it is subject to 

a statutory trust.  The application land was held for housing purposes. There 

was no appropriation of the application land to be held for open space purposes 

under the Open Spaces Act 1906.   

12.7. “Open space” is defined in section 270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, 

by reference to section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 

“any land laid out as a public garden, or used for the purposes of public 

recreation, or land which is a disused burial ground”. Land may fall within that 

definition, because it is used for the purposes of public recreation without its 

being held for the purposes of public recreation, and being the subject of a 

statutory trust.  Many authorities in my experience advertise land which 

physically is an open space, whether or not there is any evidence of use for the 

purposes of public recreation. The mere fact of advertisement, without more, 

does not prove a statutory trust which would give rise to a public right to use 

the land, and prevent the use of the land being “as of right”. 

Implied licence

12.8. It does not seem to me that the fact that the application land was made 

available for local residents to use for recreation gives rise to an implied 

licence in this case any more than it did in the Beresford case.  The acts of the 

Council in this case have been equivalent to those of the local authority in 

Beresford which mowed the grass and provided benches around the Sports 

Arena the subject of the application in that case.  Here the Council was clearly 

willing for local inhabitants to use the land. It encouraged the local inhabitants 

to use the land by providing the children’s play equipment and the bench for 

people to sit on.  Those activities were not indicative of a revocable permission 

granted by the Council, but were the actions of a public authority, mindful of 

its public responsibilities and functions, which wished to care for the 

appearance of the amenity land around its rented properties and to provide 

recreational facilities for its tenants and for the other inhabitants who lived in 

the locality of its rented properties.  There is nothing in my judgment about the 

facts of this case which distinguishes it from the Beresford case and from 

which a licence to use the land granted by the Council to local inhabitants can 

be inferred. 

Events held and activities carried out by permission on the land

12.9. I am satisfied that the Council’s decision to locate the playground which is 

presently on the south eastern corner of the application site came about as a 

result of an expressed preference by local consultees for that site through the 

Planning for Real exercise undertaken by the Council.  However, I think that it

43Page 50



is inaccurate to characterise the result of such a consultation exercise as a 

request for permission to site a playground on the application land. 

12.10. I am satisfied that, at some time in 2007 or 2008, Mrs Tweed and Mrs 

Boorman suggested to the Council that the application land could be used to 

re-site the MUGA that had been lost when the Community School site was 

redeveloped.  I do not think that this suggestion/request can be characterised as 

a request for permission to enjoy lawful sports and pastimes on the land.   

12.11. I am satisfied that at some time, an unidentified local resident made a request 

to the Council for permission to hold an event in opposition to the proposed 

development of part of the application land on the application land.  The 

person who made the request was not the applicant nor any of the witnesses 

who appeared on behalf of the applicant at the inquiry.  Mr Holloway’s 

recollection that there had been a request to hold an event on the land was 

supported by the document headed “Ashford Housing Contextual Information 

Beecholme Drive – Green space”
69

.  Under the heading “Record of Events on 

the Site” the author wrote: 

“We do not have a record of any events on this strip of land.  We have 

not received any requests to hold an event on this strip of land.  The 

only exception was close to the time of one of the development 

consultation meetings last year.  This would probably coincide with the 

submission of the current application.” 

12.12. However, neither the author of this document nor Mr Holloway was able to 

state clearly when the request was received.  I am not satisfied on the balance 

of probabilities that the request was made during the qualifying period, that is, 

before the application to register the land as a town or village green was made.   

Even had I been so satisfied, the evidence of a single request by a single 

individual whose identity is not recorded does not in my view support the 

Council’s case that there was a pattern of behaviour amongst local residents of 

seeking permission for activities on the application land. 

12.13. There was no other evidence of the local residents seeking the Council’s 

permission to carry out lawful sports and pastimes on the application land. 

12.14. I recommend that the Registration Authority should conclude that the use 

made of the application land by local residents was use as of right, as required 

by section 15 of the 2006 Act. 

13. Applying the law to the facts

A significant number of the inhabitants …

13.1. In my judgment the applicant has shown that the application land is used by a 

sufficient number of people to indicate that the land is in general use by the 

local community for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by 

individuals as trespassers. 

69 A113 and O24 

44Page 51



45

… of any locality… 

13.2. The claimed localities are the two electoral wards of Bybrook and Bockhanger. 

I am satisfied that these wards are localities within the meaning of the Act. 

...or of any neighbourhood within a locality…

13.3. The claimed neighbourhood is the area coloured green on the appended map 

and known as Bockhanger.  I am satisfied that the claimed neighbourhood is a 

neighbourhood within the meaning of the Act. 

…have indulged as of right…

13.4. I was not persuaded by the Objector’s argument that the local inhabitants’ use 

of the land was permissive.  In my judgment the local inhabitants used the land 

as of right, as required by the Act. 

… in lawful sports and pastimes…

13.5. There was evidence that the land was used for a number of lawful sports and 

pastimes, including football, dog walking, using the play area, toddlers’ games 

and other play. 

…on the land…

13.6. The application land was sufficiently clearly defined.  I append a map showing 

the land the subject of the application. 

…for a period of at least 20 years and they continue to do so at the time of 

the application.

13.7. I accept the applicant’s evidence that the land has been used by local 

inhabitants for informal recreation throughout the relevant period and 

recommend that the Registration Authority should so find. 

14. Conclusion

14.1. I conclude that the applicant has succeeded in satisfying the statutory test for 

registration, and recommend that the Registration Authority should accede to 

the application. I recommend that the Registration Authority should specify 

that the reasons for its decision are “the reasons set out in the Inspector’s 

Report dated 25 February 2010”. 

LANA WOOD 

9 Stone Buildings 

Lincoln’s Inn 

25 February 2010 

Page 52



Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Application to register land known as King George Playing Field  
at Hawkhurst as a new Village Green 

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 27th April 2010. 

Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council endorses the advice 
received from Counsel and that the applicant be informed that the application to 
register the land known as the King George Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new 
Town or Village Green has not been accepted. 

Local Member: Mr. R. Manning     Unrestricted item 

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as King George 
Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new Town or Village Green from local residents Mrs. J. 
Wood, Mr. D. Buckle and Mr. R. Sheath (“the Applicants”). The application, dated 24th

November 2008, was allocated the application number VGA605. A plan of the site is 
shown at Appendix A to this report. 

2. The application was duly advertised and an objection was received1 from Hawkhurst 
Parish Council (“the Parish Council”). The objection was made on the basis that use of 
the application site has been ‘by right’ and not ‘as of right’. 

Previous resolution of the Regulation Committee Member Panel 

3. The matter was considered at a Regulation Committee Member Panel meeting on 
Friday 19th February 2010. A copy of the Officer’s report setting out the facts of the 
case is attached at Appendix B.

4. Several days prior to the meeting, following the circulation of the Officer’s report, a 
letter was received from Mr. C. Maile, of Planning Sanity, acting on behalf of the 
applicants. The letter raised new issues and points of law regarding the status of the 
land as a Charitable Trust which had not been considered during the previous 
exchange of representations. 

5. During the meeting, Members raised concerns regarding the uncertainty surrounding 
the manner in which Hawkhurst Parish Council held the land and the effect of the 
Charitable Trust on the issue of whether the use of the application site for recreational 
purposes by the local residents had been ‘as of right’. 

6. After some debate, it was not considered possible to reach a firm conclusion and it was 
resolved that consideration of the application be deferred to enable further legal advice 
to be sought on the new issues raised by the applicants. 

1
 A number of standard form letters of objection were also received. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 55



Background

7. Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a Commons 
Registration Authority to register land as a Village Green where it can be shown that: 

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

8. In this case, it appears to be common ground that that the application site has been 
available for use for a period of at least 20 years and that it has been used for lawful 
sports and pastimes. 

9. However, in order to meet the tests for registration, the applicant must be able to 
demonstrate that such use of the application site has been ‘as of right’. For use to have 
been ‘as of right’, it must have taken place without force, without secrecy and without 
permission2 (nec vi, nec clam, nec precario).

10. There is no evidence to suggest that use of the application site by the local residents 
for recreational purposes has been with force or in secrecy. Although it is the Parish 
Council’s case that the vehicular access gates to the car park on the application site 
are regularly locked after hours, access to the site is available at any time via the stile 
and two pedestrian gates situated along the frontage with the public highway.  

11. However, there is an issue with regard to the third limb of the ‘as of right’ definition 
regarding whether use has been without permission. The land is the subject of a 
Charitable Trust and, in order to establish whether use has been ‘as of right’, it has 
been necessary to determine not only the existence and exact provisions of the trust 
but also the legal consequences of the land being held under a Charitable Trust. 

12. It was on this third element of the ‘as of right’ definition that Members requested further 
legal advice be sought. 

Counsel’s advice 

13. Following the meeting, Hawkhurst Parish Council was contacted regarding the 
provision of further documentation to clarify the status of the land. On receipt, this new 
information, along with all the other documentation supplied by both parties in respect 
of this case, was forwarded to Counsel for advice. 

Is there a valid Charitable Trust?

14. The first matter to be considered by Counsel was to determine whether or not the land 
was the subject of a valid Charitable Trust. 

15. The land was acquired by Hawkhurst Parish Council by way of a Conveyance dated 3rd

June 1935 (attached at Appendix C). In determining whether the effect of this 
document was to create a Charitable Trust, it is necessary to consider the intention of 
the document and the language used within it. 

2
R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385

Page 56



16.The Conveyance states ‘it is intended that the said land shall be dedicated to the use of 
the Public solely for the purposes of recreation’ (third paragraph). It is clear that the 
intention behind the document is for the land to be used by the public for recreational 
purposes. Clearly, the public is not a legal entity in whom ownership of the land can be 
vested. The Parish Council, on the other hand, is a legal entity that has the power to 
acquire land (under the Local Government Act 1894, reference to which is made in the 
Conveyance). Therefore, the land has been transferred to the Parish Council on the 
understanding that it is held for public use – i.e. it is held ‘on trust’ for the public. 

17. The language of the document also provides further clues. The reference to ‘the donor 
as settlor’ (at the bottom of page 1 of the Conveyance) demonstrates that the intention 
of the document is to create a trust. A ‘settlor’ is a legal term for a person who settles 
property on trust for the benefit of beneficiaries. 

18. The fact that the 1935 Conveyance can be said to create a trust is entirely consistent 
with the land being dedicated within 3 years of the document as a King George Playing 
Field. Furthermore, there are numerous references in the user evidence questionnaires 
submitted in support of the application to the land being ‘held in trust for Hawkhurst by 
King George Playing Fields’. This would appear to confirm that the existence of the 
trust is well-known locally. 

19. There is strong authority that gifts for recreational purposes are to be regarded as 
being charitable. In a case known as Re Hadden3, the judge held that he was ‘bound to 
hold... that the provision of means for public recreation is a charitable object’. 

20. Therefore, on a balance of probabilities, it can be concluded that the land is held by the 
Parish Council on a Charitable Trust. 

What is the effect of the Charitable Trust?

21. Having answered the first question in the affirmative, Counsel then considered what the 
effect of the Charitable Trust is on the application to register the land as a new Village 
Green. Mr. Maile, on behalf of the applicants, submits that the land is capable of 
registration as a new Village Green regardless of whether or not it is held on a 
Charitable Trust. 

22. Whilst this may be the case in circumstances where land is held on trust for a specific 
purposes (e.g. for use by the members of a specific club or organisation or for a 
particular, narrowly-defined purpose), Counsel was of the view that where land is held 
on trust for public recreation generally, Village Green rights cannot be acquired. 

23. At this point, Counsel referred to the Trust Deed which created the King George’s Field 
Foundation dated 3rd November 1936 (attached at Appendix D). The object of the 
Foundation was to ‘promote and assist in the establishment throughout the United 
Kingdom of Playing Fields for the use and enjoyment of the people...’. The term 
‘Playing Field’ is defined in the trust document as ‘any open space use for the purpose 
of outdoor games sports and pastimes’. 

3
 [1932] 1 Ch 133 at 142 per Clauson, J 

Page 57



24.The reference to ‘sports and pastimes’ in the Trust Deed sits squarely within the 
definition of the type of use that can give rise to Village Green rights under section 15 
of the Commons Act 2006. 

25. As was noted at paragraph 36 of the report to the Regulation Committee Member 
Panel meeting on 19th February 2010 (at Appendix B), the fundamental principle 
behind the concept of ‘as of right’ is that, in order to acquire rights, those using the land 
must start off as trespassers. The acquisition of rights cannot occur if those using the 
land for recreational purposes already have a right to do so. This is because those 
using the land are not trespassers; they are there in exercise of an existing right to use 
the land. As such their use is ‘by right’ and not ‘as of right’. 

26. This was confirmed by Lord Walker in a case known as Beresford4, who said that: 
“where land is vested in a local authority on a statutory trust under section 10 of the 
Open Spaces Act 1906, inhabitants of the locality are beneficiaries of a statutory trust 
of a public nature, and it would be very difficult to regard those who use the park or 
other open space as trespassers... the position would be the same if there were no 
statutory trust in the strictest sense, but land had been appropriated for the 
purpose of public recreation” (emphasis added in bold). 

27. Whilst Beresford referred to land which had been appropriated for public use under the 
Open Spaces Act 1906, the principle remains the same, as confirmed by the 
highlighted section of Lord Walker’s passage above. 

28. Counsel was therefore of the view that, due to the existence of the Charitable Trust, 
use of the land was not ‘as of right’ and therefore the land was not capable fo 
registration as a Village Green. 

Conclusion

29. In light of the advice received from Counsel, the conclusion is that the use of the 
application site by the local residents for recreation has taken place ‘by right’ (by virtue 
of the existence of the Charitable Trust) and not ‘as of right’. 

30. Since this key legal test in relation to the registration of the land as a new Town or 
Village Green has not been met, it is not possible for the land to be registered as such. 

Recommendation

31. I recommend that the County Council endorses the advice received from Counsel and 
that the applicant be informed that the application to register the land known as the 
King George Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new Town or Village Green has not been 
accepted

4
R(Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2003] UKHL 60 at [87]

Page 58



Accountable Officer:
Dr. Linda Davies – Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss Melanie McNeir – Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Countryside Access Service, 
Environment and Waste, Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case 
officer for further details. 

Background documents 

APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of the Officer’s report presented to the Regulation Committee 
Member Panel meeting of 19th February 2010 
APPENDIX C – Copy of the Conveyance dated 3rd June 1935 
APPENDIX D – Copy of Trust Deed establishing the King George’s Field Foundation 
dated 3rd November 1936 

Page 59



T
h

e
H

o
llie

s
M

e
a
d

o
w

v
ie

w

m
a

u
s

a
ig

Nutshell Cottage

3

Hawkhouse

Selwood

ram
House

Villas

Evergreen Cottage
Allotment Gardens

Bram
wyn

Jocia

Goodison

NUTS

Hensill Barn

R
o

c
k
e

ry
T

h
e Moor

Alicante
Highton

2

1

21

TCB

Lodge

Lawnsend 1
2

1

The Hawthorns

6

Pleasant

Mount

6

1

5

59.0m

5

1
1

Oak
Cottage

W
edgeways
Clarem

ont

Law
nside

Lea
Cottage

Cott

Am
well

Rayne

Eccleston

Franklyn Villa

Hillside

StHelens

2

2

1

Clematis

Cottage

2
5

2
4

D
ra

g
o

n
s61.2m

PO

1
2

LB

C
lifto

n
H

o
u
s
e

C
lifto

n
C

o
ttag

e

The

Vicarage

Floral

he
O

ld
Chestnuts

1

5

2
1

Cottage

Jasmine Cotts

Wethering
Hope

Cottage

65.4m

W
a

y
s
id

e

Hope
Wethering

ir
C

o
tt

a
g

e
s

C
h

u
rc

h
C

o
u

rt

The Close

The
Chantry

Victoria House

GP

LB

Howes Cottages

The Moor

GP

FS

65.9m

Vine Cottage

66.7m

Elfords1

Pavilion

Recreation Ground

67.1m

Eight Bells

(PH)
Hotel

Cottages2

S
t
M

a
rg

a
rets

Bakehouse
The Old

Pond

Hazel
The Office at The Moor

Cottage

Lodge
Elford East Elford

Cottage

St Laurence's Church

Old Vicarage
The

Cross

St Margarets

(site of)

Cross

67.2m

Taplin
Cottage

67.1m

The

Cottage
Garden

Little Elfords

East Elfords

Padmore

Hall House

Pond

Issues

D
ra

in

Pond

Cottage
Boysdel

Pond

Lakeside

Boysdel

Pond
Heathside

Petersfield

Beech
Cottage

63.4m

Lodge
St Cuthberts

The Malt House

Marchants

Falkland

Whites

Tower Lodge

M
id

d
le

m
iss

C
o
tta

g
e

G
la

d
s
to

n
e

C
o
ttag

e

H
o
n

ey
p
o

t
C

o
ttag

e

Cottage

C
O

M
O

O
R

H
IL

L

T
A

L
B

O
T

R
O

A
D

STREAM LANE

Tree Tops

T
H

E
M

O
O

R

E
a
s

t
V

ie
w

64.6m

Wychwood

El Sub Sta
ETON PLACE

C
h

a
rt

e
r

H
o

u
s
e

Vinehall

Buckswood

ClaremontM
il

lf
ie

ld House

BenendenCottage
Bedgebury House

Bethany Cottage

Roedean Manor

Wellington Cottage

House

Harrow

Winchester

Cottage

Cottage
Talbot

Hillcrest

The Dairy

Market

A
2
2
9

575750.000000

575750.000000

1
2

9
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
2

9
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
2

9
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

1
2

9
7

5
0

.0
0

0
0

0
0

Application to register land known as
King George Playing Field in the parish

of Hawkhurst as a new Village Green®
Scale 1:2500

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing application site

Page 60



  
 

Application to register land known as King George Playing Field  
at Hawkhurst as a new Village Green 

 

 
A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council  
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Friday 19th February 2010. 
 
Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land known as King George Playing Field at 
Hawkhurst has not been accepted. 
 

 
Local Members:  Mr. R. Manning     Unrestricted item 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as King 

George Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new Town or Village Green from local 
residents Mrs. J. Wood, Mr. D. Buckle and Mr. R. Sheath the Applicants
application, dated 24th November 2008, was allocated the application number 
VGA605. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a copy of the 
application form is attached at Appendix B. 

 
Procedure 
 
2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and 

Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008. 
 
3. Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a 

Commons Registration Authority to register land as a Town or Village Green where 
it can be shown that: 

abitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports 
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; 

  
4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests: 

 Use of the land has continued 
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or 
 Use ended no more than two years prior to the 

date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 
15(3) of the Act); or 

Use th April 2007 and the application 
has been made within five years of the da nded (section 
15(4) of the Act). 
 

5. As a standard procedure set out in the regulations, the Applicant must notify the 
landowner of the application and the County Council must notify every local 
authority. The County Council must also publicise the application in a newspaper 
circulating in the local area and place a copy of the not
website. In addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the 
County Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people with 

Page 61



  
 

the opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a period of 
at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made. 

 
The application site 
 
6.  

recreation ground of approximately 2.5 hectares (6 acres) in size situated adjacent 
to Moor Hill (A229) and Hastings Road (B2244) in The Moor area of the village of 
Hawkhurst. The application site consists of a grassed open space (incorporating 
tennis courts, a play area and a pavilion). 

 
7. The perimeter of the application site is fenced and access to the site is via two 

pedestrian gates and a stile along the boundary with the footway of Moor Hill and 
via the vehicular entrance to the car park (also from Moor Hill). 

 
8. Members should be aware that the application site has been the subject of a 

planning application to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for the demolition of the 
existing Sports Pavillion and the erection of a new community centre as well as 
separate storage outbuildings, a car park and an outdoor playground. Planning 
permission for the scheme was granted on 15th May 2009. 

 
9. The granting of planning permission has no effect upon the Village Green 

the proposed development or the desirability of registering the land as a new 
Village Green. The County Council, in its capacity as the Commons Registration 
Authority, is restricted solely to whether the strict legal tests set out in section 15 of 
the Commons Act 2006 have been met. This is purely a matter of evidence. 

 
The case 
 
10. The application has been made on the grounds that the application site has 

become a Town or Village Green by virtue of the actual use of the land by the local 
inhabitants for a range of recreational activiti 0 years. 

 
11. Included in the application were 19 user evidence questionnaires from local 

residents asserting that the application site has been available for free and 
uninhibited use for lawful sports and pastimes over the last twenty years and 
beyond. A summary of the user evidence is attached at Appendix C. 

 
12. Also included within the application were photographs showing Hawkhurst United 

Football club on the land between 1935 and 1982. 
 
Consultations 
 
13. Consultations have been carried out as required.  
 
14. In response to the consultation, 20 letters of objection have been 

received from local residents. These letters, identically worded, set out the history 
of the acquisition of the site and object on the grounds that the site has been 
actively managed and strictly controlled by the Parish Council and use of it has not 

 
 

Page 62



  
 

15. It is, however, difficult to place any great deal of weight to these letters since they 
provide a shared view in response to an emotive issue rather than provide any 
actual evidence in rebuttal to the application. The letters appear to have been 
produced and circulated by the Parish Council and thus the words used and views 
expressed are perhaps aligned more to an agreement with those of the Parish 
Council rather than the individual thoughts of those objecting. In considering the 
consultation responses, it is always the substantive content of the objections 
received that is relevant, and not their number. 
 
Landowner 

 
16. The application site is managed by Hawkhurst Parish Parish 

.  
 
17. The application site was acquired by the Parish Council by way of a Conveyance 

dated 3rd June 1935. The Conveyance refers to the land having been acquired 
under the provisions of the Local Government Act 1894 and stipulates that the land 
is required by the Council for the purpose or purposes of a Recreation Ground and 
it is intended that the said land shall be dedicated to the use of the Public solely for 
the purpose of recreation  A copy of the conveyance is attached at Appendix D. 

 
18. On 29th April 1938, the application site was the subject of a declaration of trust 

shall be preserved in perpetuity as a Memorial to His late 
Majesty King George V under the p

 
 
19. set up shortly after the death of King 

to promote and to assist in the establishment 
throughout the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland of playing 
fields for the use and enjoyment of the people  The Foundation was established as 
a Charity and funds were raised, initially by way of a National Appeal, to facilitate 
the acquisition, construction and equipment of land for recreational use. In 1965, 
the Foundation was dissolved and responsibility transferred to the National Playing 
Fields Association (now known as Fields in Trust). 

 
20. Today, the application site is a registered Charity (no. 1085101) and the land is 

vested in the Members of Hawkhurst Parish Council as the Trustee of the Charity.  
 
21. The Parish Council has objected to the application on the basis that use of the 

application site has been by virtue of the conditions of the charitable trust and the 
1935 conveyance (which specifically provide for the use of the land for recreational 

 
 
Legal tests 
 
22. In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County 

Council must consider the following criteria: 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 

pastimes? 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 

locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 

Page 63



  
 

(d) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 
(e) Whether use of the land up 

until the date of application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections  
15(3) or (4)? 
 

I shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually: 
 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
 
23. by the House of 

Lords. Following the judgement in the Sunningwell1 case, it is considered that if a 
person uses the land for a required period of time without force, secrecy or 
permission (nec vi, nec clam, nec precario), and the landowner does not stop him 
or advertise the fact that he has no right to be there, then rights are acquired and 
fur  

 
24. In this case, there is no evidence of any of the users ever having been verbally 

challenged or physically prevented from gaining access to the land. Nor is there any 
evidence that use of the land has been with secrecy. Although the site is fenced 
around its perimeter and the vehicular access gate to the site is locked overnight, 
access to the site is easily achievable through the pedestrian gates and the stile 
along Moor Hill. 

 
25. 

permission. Permission in this context can take various forms. It can be express or 
implied, and it may or may not be communicated to the recreational users of the 
land.  

 
Express permission: the Notice 

 
26. In support of their objection, the Parish Council refers to a notice displayed on the 

King George V Playing Field, The Moor. This recreation area is 
the property of the King George V Playing Field Trust who give consent for the 
lawful use of the land for recreational purposes. The Trustees are Members of 
Hawkhurst Parish Council The inference is that this notice confers a form of 
express permission to use the site. A photograph of the notice is attached at 
Appendix E. 

 
27. However, this notice is dated November 2008. The application for Village Green 

status was made on 24th November 2008. Therefore, it is possible that there may 
have been a period of a few days or weeks during which the notice was in situ prior 
to the application being made. In any event, the notice has little impact upon 

-established that in order to be 
effective, permission must not only be communicated, but it must also be 
revocable2. 

 

                                                 
1
 R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 

2
 R(Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2003] UKHL 60 

Page 64



  
 

Implied permission: statutory acquisition of the land 
 
28. Particularly in cases where the application site is owned by a local authority, it is 

important to determine the powers under which the site was acquired in order to 
determine whether the use of the land by the local residents has been by virtue of 
an implied permission. 

 
29. As stated above, the land was acquired by the Parish Council in exercise of its 

the 1894 Act enabled Parish to provide or acquire land... for a recreation 
ground and for public walks

to exercise with respect to any recreation ground, village green, 
open space, or public walk, which is for the time being under their control... such 
powers as may be exercised by an urban authority under section 164 of the Public 
Health Act 1875... in relation to recreation grounds or public walks, and sections 
183 to 186 of the Public Health Act 1875 shall apply accordingly as if the Parish 

 
 
30. S  

urchase or take on lease, lay out, plant, improve and 
maintain lands for the purpose of being used as public walks or pleasure 
grounds... It did not apply to Parish Councils at the time that Hawkhurst Parish 
Council acquired the application site in 1935. 

 
31. However, in the Local Government Act 1972 

1894 Act (under which the Parish Council acquired the application site) were 
repealed. At the same time, the provisions of the 1875 Act (previously only 

became directly applicable to 
Parish Councils. It is therefore considered that land which was acquired and held as 
a public walk or recreation ground under section 8(1)(b) of the 1894 Act was 
thereafter (i.e. on the coming into effect of the 1972 Act on 1st April 1974) held 
under and for the purposes of section 164 of the 1875 Act. 

 
The effect of section 164 of the Public Health Act 1875 

 
32. The specific issue of the effect of this provision on an application to register land as 

a Town or Village Green has never been before the Courts. There is, however, 
judicial support for the proposition that land held under section 164 of the Public 
Health Act 1875 is the subject of a statutory trust, with members of the public being 
the beneficiaries of the trust. 

 
33. In Hall v Beckenham Corporation3, the land concerned was held under the 1875 Act 

as far as the local authority is concerned, if 
the land is purchased under their statutory powers, it is dedicated to the use of the 
public for the purpose of a park 4 I think that the 
Beckenham Corporation are the trustees and the guardians of the par 5. 

 

                                                 
3
 Hall v Beckenham Corporation [1949] 1 All ER 423 

4
 Hall v Beckenham Corporation [1949] 1 All ER 423 at 426 

5
 Hall v Beckenham Corporation [1949] 1 All ER 423 at 427 

Page 65



  
 

34. In Blake v Hendon6 the purpose of section 164 of the Act of 
1875 is to provide the public with public walks and pleasure grounds. The public are 
not a legal entity and cannot be vested with the legal ownership of the walks and 
pleasure grounds which they are to enjoy. But if they could be given the beneficial 
ownership, that is what they should have...  

 
35. More recently, the House of Lords has considered the effect of a similar provision 

(namely the Open Spaces Act 1906) on an application to register land as a Town or 
Village Green. In Beresford7 where land is vested in a local 
authority on a statutory trust under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906, 
inhabitants of the locality are beneficiaries of a statutory trust of a public nature, and 
it would be very difficult to regard those who use the park or other open space as 
trespassers... the position would be the same if there were no statutory trust in the 
strictest sense, but land had been appropriated for the purpose of public 
recreation  

 
36. , in order to 

acquire rights, those using the land must start off as trespassers. The acquisition of 
rights cannot occur if those using the land for recreational purposes already have a 
right to do so. Therefore, if land is held by a local authority specifically for the 
purposes of recreation, those using the land are not trespassers  they are already 

  
 
37. Therefore, it can be concluded that use of the application site by the local residents 

has been in exercise of an existing right created by virtue of a public statutory trust 
 

 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes? 
 
38. Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking, 

children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. It is not necessary to demonstrate that 
both sporting activities and pastimes have taken place since the p

composite group rather than two separate classes of activities8. 
 
39. Legal principle does not require that rights of this nature be limited to certain 

ancient pastimes (such as maypole dancing) or for organised sports or communal 
activities to have taken place dog walking and playing 
with children [are], in modern life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the 
main function of a village green 9. 

 
40. In this case, the evidence demonstrates that the land has been used for a wide 

range of recreational activities, including walking (with and without dogs), ball 
games, picnics, playing with children, running and watching other sports activities.  

                                                 
6
 Blake (Valuation Officer) v Hendon Corporation [1961] 3 All ER 601 at 607 

7
 R(Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2003] UKHL 60 at paragraph 87 

8
 R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 

9
 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord Hoffman 

in R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 
385 

Page 66



  
 

The table summarising evidence of use by local residents at Appendix C shows 
the full range of activities claimed to have taken place. 

 
41. It should be noted that some of the activities cited in the user evidence 

questionnaires may be the subject of an implied form of permission. For example, 
some witnesses refer to taking part in formal games of football or cricket, or 
attending village fetes. Such activities are likely to have taken place by licence from 
the Parish Council (and, probably, on payment of a fee). Therefore, such use would 
be attributable to some form of formal authorization rather than informal recreational 
use as of right . However, given the recommendation in this case, it is not 
necessary to conclude definitively on this point. 

 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 
 
42. The definition of locality for the purposes of a Town or Village Green application has 

been the subject of much debate in the Courts and there is still no definite rule to be 
applied. In the Cheltenham Builders10 case, it was considered that e very 
least, Parliament required the users of the land to be the inhabitants of somewhere 
that could sensibly be described as a locality
sufficiently cohesive entity which is capable of definition t on to 

some legally 
recognised administrative division of the county  

 
43.  In this case, the applicant states that the relevant locality is The Moor, Hawkhurst . 

The Moor is that part of Hawkhurst village which, broadly speaking, lies to the south 
of the main centre of the village of Hawkhurst, and is centred on the A229 (Moor 
Hill) and B2244 (Hastings Road) crossroads. It is not a legally recognised 
administrative area of the county, but could well satisfy the definition of a 
neighbourhood within the wider locality of the parish of Hawkhurst. 

 
44. However, given that the land was originally acquired by the Hawkhurst Parish 

Council and is managed by the Parish Council on behalf of the inhabitants of the 
whole village, it seems appropriate, particularly if the land is used for community 
(i.e. village-wide) activities, that the relevant locality is the administrative parish of 
Hawkhurst. 

 
(d) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more? 
 
45. In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has 

been used for a full period of twenty years. Where there has been no challenge to 
-year period is 

to be calculated retrospectively from the date that the application was made. 
 
46. In this case, the application was made in November 2008. Therefore, the relevant 

twenty-  
 
47. Of the 19 user evidence questionnaires submitted in support of the application, all 

but one documents use of the application site throughout the material period. In the  
 

                                                 
10

 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at 90  

Page 67



  
 

majority of cases, use of the field has taken place for over 40 years, with one 
witness referring to use as far back as 1935. 

 
48. Therefore, it can be concluded that use of the land has taken place over a period of 

over twenty years. 
 
(e) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of 
application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)? 
 
49. The Commons Act 2006 req

until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making of the 
application, to fulfil one of the alternative criterion set out in sections 15(3) and 
15(4) of the 2006 Act (as set out at paragraph 4 above).  

 
50. In this case, there is no suggestion from the evidence submitted both in support of 

and in objection to the application that the use of the land by the local residents for 
the purposes of informal recreation has ceased prior to the making of the 
application. As discussed above, the Notice erected by the Parish Council has little 

. 
 
51.  Therefore, it appears that use of the land has continued up until the 

date of application and as such it is not necessary to consider the other tests set 
out in sections 15(3) and 15(4) of the Act. 

 
Conclusion 
 
52. It is clear from the evidence submitted in support of the application that the 

application site has been used by a significant number of the residents of the 
locality for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a considerable period. 
However, as discussed above, it would appear that such use has been in exercise 
of the public statutory trust created by the Public Health Act 1875; 

 
 
53. It is therefore concluded that the legal tests concerning the registration of the land 

as a Town or Village Green (as set out above) have not been met. 
 
Recommendations 
 
54. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 

register the land known as King George Playing Field at Hawkhurst has not been 
accepted. 

 
 

Accountable Officer:  
Dr. Linda Davies  Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Miss. Melanie McNeir  Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 68



  
 

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Countryside Access Service, 
Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further 
details. 

 
 
Background documents 
 
APPENDIX A  Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B  Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C  Table summarising user evidence 
APPENDIX D  Copy of conveyance dated 3rd June 1935 
APPENDIX E  Notice displayed in Sports Pavillion on the application site  

Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86


	Agenda
	3 Application to register land at Beecholme Drive, Bybrook as a new Village Green
	4 Application to register land known as King George Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new Village Green

